

Phillips, Angela To investigate attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland. [MEd].

#### https://dissertations.gla.ac.uk/544/

Copyright © 2022 The Author

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author(s)

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author(s)

The content must not be shared, changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, institution and date must be given

Deposited: 15 February 2023

Enlighten Dissertations https://endeavour.gla.ac.uk/ research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk To investigate attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

> Student Number: Supervisor: Dr Mary Wingrave Course: MEd Childhood Practice Word Count: 14836

## Abstract

This dissertation is an investigation into the attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in Community Custodial Units (CCUs), in the new custodial estate in Scotland. Scotland is currently undergoing transformative change in custodial provision for women and, with women continuing to receive visits from their children and give birth whilst in custody, now is the time to consider the provision of spaces to promote attachment between mothers and children living in or visiting a custodial environment. The intention to investigate, using two phases, anonymous questionnaires with mothers and interviews with staff, allowed the responses from the mothers from the Phase 1 questionnaires to be taken into the Phase 2 staff interviews. This research will add to the existing body of knowledge relating to the separation of mothers from their children, including those who are pregnant in the Scottish custodial estate. By reviewing my findings, alongside existing polices and legislation, as well any academic literature already available the dissertation finds that, there is a lot of uncertainty in relation to what levels of support are available to mothers and children affected by parental imprisonment and what is in the best interest of the child. The findings suggest that more support is required for mothers and children to promote and maintain attachment whilst a mother is in custody. The overall attitudes indicated that the use of MBUs should continue as they can improve bonding and attachment in the early stages. There were mixed responses on the possibility of overnight stays in the CCUs for other children and attitudes indicated that more information was required, as well as new legislation to allow for it. Suggested areas for further research include, revisiting the CCUS once they are open to explore any benefits and challenges and, to investigate if the CCU model of custody could be offered to fathers in custody to promote a more gender-neutral approach to the current custodial offer in Scotland.

## Contents

| Acknowledgements                          | 5  |  |
|---|----|--|
| List of Abbreviations                     |    |  |
| Chapter 1: Introduction                   | 7  |  |
| 1.1 Rationale                             | 7  |  |
| 1.2 Personal motivation for the research  | 8  |  |
| 1.3 Research aims                         | 9  |  |
| 1.4 Structure of the research             | 10 |  |
| Chapter 2: Literature review              | 11 |  |
| 2.1 What is known                         | 11 |  |
| 2.2 The role of MBUs                      | 12 |  |
| 2.3 The new estate, a need for change     | 14 |  |
| 2.4 Attachment                            | 15 |  |
| 2.5 Separation                            | 17 |  |
| 2.6 Trauma                                | 19 |  |
| 2.7 The role of parenting programmes      | 20 |  |
| 2.8 Equivalence                           | 21 |  |
| 2.9 Summary                               | 22 |  |
| Chapter 3: Methodology                    | 24 |  |
| 3.1 The paradigm                          | 24 |  |
| 3.2 Situating the research                | 26 |  |
| 3.3 Methods                               | 27 |  |
| 3.4 Questionnaires                        | 28 |  |
| 3.5 Interviews                            | 29 |  |
| 3.6 Transcribing and analysis of the data | 29 |  |
| 3.7 Ethics                                | 30 |  |
| 3.8 Trauma focused ethics                 | 32 |  |
| 3.9 Limitations                           | 33 |  |
| 3.10 Summary                              | 34 |  |
| Chapter 4: Analysis and Findings          | 35 |  |
| 4.1 Phase 1 analysis                      | 35 |  |

| 4.2Phase 2 analysis                                     | 36   |
|---|------|
| 4.3 Findings  | . 37 |
| 4.4 Attachment  | 37   |
| 4.5 Support   | . 41 |
| 4.6 Best interest                                       | 45   |
| 4.7 Summary   | 49   |
| Chapter 5: Conclusion                                   | 50   |
| 5.1 Summary of the findings                             | 50   |
| 5.2 Limitations   | 51   |
| 5.3 Recommendations for practice                        | 51   |
| 5.4 Lessons learned                                     | 53   |
| 5.5 Future research                                     | 53   |
| 5.6 Conclusion  | 54   |
| Appendix  |      |
| Appendix A: Plain language statements and consent forms | 55   |
| Appendix B: Questionnaire responses and coding          | 60   |
| Appendix C: Example interview questions and extract of  |      |
| interview transcript analysis                           | 70   |
| Appendix D: Phase 1 and Phase 2 full coding             | 72   |
| Reference list  | 73   |

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Mary Wingrave, who has supported me throughout this research, especially during the external ethics application process.

This dissertation would not have been possible without the participants, especially the mothers who provided questionnaire responses, allowing me to reflect their experiences in the interviews with staff. I would also like to thank the Scottish Prison Service, especially the Women's Strategy Team and other Senior Management who provided not only access to their establishments, but time, support, and valuable input during the interviews.

The final product would not have been possible without the support I have received from my husband and my Mum. XXX has patiently answered all my Excel queries and provided a sounding board for my thinking out loud, as well as inserting commas during proof reading as apparently my keyboard didn't come with one. Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my two sons, who have supported me and 'tried' to keep the noise down whilst I have been constantly reading journal articles and frantically typing over the past year.

## List of abbreviations

| ACEs   | Adverse Childhood Experiences                        |
|--------|--|
| BERA   | British Educational Research Association             |
| CEO    | Chief Executive Officer                              |
| CCUs   | Community Custody Units                              |
| EYP    | Early Years Practitioner                             |
| GIRFEC | Getting It Right For Every Child                     |
| MBUs   | Mother and Baby Units                                |
| PLS    | Plain Language Statement                             |
| SPS    | Scottish Prison Service                              |
| UNCRC  | United Nations Convention On The Rights Of the Child |

# Chapter 1: Introduction

Throughout history women have been defined in familial gendered categories such as mothers, wives and daughters, with historically motherhood providing the most significant social exclusion (Feinman, 1994; Baldwin and Abbott, 2020). Therefore, mothers serving a custodial sentence often find themselves even more excluded by society as they are considered to have fallen outside the ideals and ideologies of motherhood (O'Reilly, 2016). By suggesting that 'to become a prisoner is almost by definition to become a bad mother' (Corston: 2007, 2, 17:20) only adds to the social exclusion most mothers feel when entering custody. There can exist a struggle to manage the opposing 'correctional and educational frames' (Ragland, 2006; 173) in any justice setting and when anyone receives a custodial sentence, it must be accepted that prejudices may influence the way situations are viewed (Goffman, 1986). The experience of mothers in custody have been described by Baldwin (2018) as disjointed at best and at worst, motherhood can be destroyed by the location. As stated in the Scottish Prison Service (SPS) Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2025 (SPS, 2021:02) 'The buildings are essential to the strategy, providing environments that do not feel institutional but are more like home'. In an aim to improve the location for women in custody, SPS are currently redesigning the new custodial estate with a focus on trauma informed practice and the need for a more welcoming approach for children visiting custodial environments (SPS, 2021).

## 1.1 Rationale

It is estimated that 65% of women in custody in Scotland are mothers, it has also been reported that between the years of 2012 and 2016, thirty-two women gave birth while in custody and nine babies lived with their mother in Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) in Scottish prisons (Prison Reform Trust, 2017). Between 2016 and January 2022, fourteen women gave birth while in custody and four babies lived with their mother in a MBUs, with only one of those mother and baby pairs being placed in an MBU since 2018 (SPS, 2022a). This research will investigate the attitudes towards the use of MBUs and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland, suggesting that now is the time to 'consider emotion, space and society' in the planning of the provision for babies, children, and women living in or visiting custodial establishments (Baldwin, 2018;49). The research will also consider the facilities and services available to mothers and children in the MBUs and CCUs and how they can be used to develop and/or to continue the bond between mothers in custody and their children.

#### 1.2 Personal motivation for the research

In my previous role as an Early Years Practitioner (EYP) based in a female prison, over the last five years I have provided support to successful and unsuccessful mothers with their application for places in MBUs when faced with the certainty of giving birth while in custody. In this time frame I was positioned inside the context of the research and experienced first-hand many of the challenges and perceptions experienced by mothers, either pregnant or whom already have children when entering custody. The research will draw on my own practice as a practitioner and will focus on the experiences of mothers in custody, as well as the importance of mother and child bonding and the opportunities which could be available to promote the development of attachment. By exploring the theory of attachment (Perry et al., 1995; Bretherton, 1992) alongside disrupted/disorganised attachment (Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018:) and the role transitions play during the early years (O'Conner, 2018), this research will explore the benefits and any challenges experienced when offering trauma informed services for women, babies, and children (Jewkes et al., 2019) in Scottish prisons. In addition, the research will make some recommendations regarding the development of and future use of both, MBUs and CCUs to ensure, where possible, mothers, babies and children can develop secure attachment and that the welfare of the children who are living with or visiting their mothers in custody is paramount (SPS, 2021).

### 1.3 Research aims

This study will research with people (McLintock et al., 2003), with a focus on experiences from mothers who have been separated from their children while in custody and the staff who support them. As part of the examination of the use of MBUs, I will also consider the application process for expectant mothers and explore any support available to them. A planned outcome of the Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2025 (SPS, 2021) includes the aim to refresh and implement updated family and mother and baby policies to further develop arrangements to support mother and child relationships in the best interest of the child. This strategy also includes a principle where children's rights and wellbeing will be considered in accordance with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) (UNICEF, online) when babies are cared for by their mothers or spend time with them in a custodial setting (SPS, 2021).

The importance of national policies intended to improve outcomes for children during the early years (Scottish Government, 2008a) as well as energies to identify the needs of children affected by parental imprisonment in Scotland (Scottish Government, 2015a) has led to this research focus being to provide recommendations for practice for staff on the attitudes towards the use of MBUs in the Scottish prison estate and the possibilities of overnight stays in the CCUs for other children. In undertaking research linked to my previous professional practice, I aim to share the experiences of others and identify areas for future improvements for mothers, babies, and children living in or spending time visiting the custodial estate in Scotland, as well as for the professionals working with them (Ragland, 2006).

After consideration of the research aims, listed below are four main research questions which this research will attempt to answer,

- How are MBUs perceived by mothers applying for access and for staff working in the establishment?
- What support is currently in place for pregnant women in custody?
- What are the views and attitudes of children having overnight stays in the CCUs?

• How can the new prison estate further develop arrangements to support the mother and child relationship wherever this is in the best interest of the child?

### 1.4 Structure of the research

The project will take place in two phases to explore the experiences and/or challenges for mothers who give birth and/or are separated from their children whilst in custody. Phase 1 will involve the use of two questionnaires. One with pregnant women in custody, and the other for mothers who have been separated from their children because they are currently in custody. Phase 2 will be the interviewing of SPS staff, prison-based external agencies working with families and/or mothers in custody and where possible previous users of the MBUs who may now be out of custody. Using the responses from Phase 1 to structure designed research questions, staff, agencies, and previous users will be asked about their perceptions and experiences of MBUs as well as the possibility for other children having overnight stays in the CCUs in the future. The data collected in both phases will be analysed using a thematic approach (Braun and Clarke, 2006) to identify themes. Before moving on to outline the methodology for the research in Chapter 3 and the data analysis and findings in Chapter 4 as well as the implications for practice in Chapter 5, the next chapter will present an overview of the existing literature as well as current and emerging legislation which supports and informs my research project.

# Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter places the enquiry within wider research and critically reviews existing policies and legislation as well as available literature to reveal that whilst research does exist in this field, there is little written evidence on the Scottish context for mothers and or children separated by imprisonment. I will begin by presenting what is already known and then continue to discuss the focus of the literature and legislation already available. The main categories identified in the literature relevant to this research are; what is known, the role of MBUs, the new estate and a need for change, attachment, separation, trauma, the role of parenting programmes and equivalence. Discussion of these themes will demonstrate the importance of providing environments that support and or allow for the development of attachment between mothers and their children when a mother receives a custodial sentence.

#### 2.1 What is known

In Scotland it is estimated that annually round 27,000 children in Scotland have a parent in prison (Long et al., 2021). In 2017, the Prison Reform Trust reported that 65% of women in prison in Scotland are parents of dependent children, with the effects of female imprisonment not being restricted to the women themselves but also impacting their families, where the children are often referred to as the 'forgotten victims of crime' (Myers et al., 2017:2).

The UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, in May 2016, recommended that the UK Government should consider the best interest of the child at sentencing and where possible avoid custodial sentences which separate children from their parents (Brett, 2018). This is also stated in The United Nations Rules for the Treatment of Women Prisoners and Noncustodial Measures for Women Offenders, referred to as the Bangkok Rules, which set out standards for the treatment of women offenders including mothers and agrees that the best interest of the child should take priority as should provision for the care of the children (UN General Assembly, 2010). However, this is not always possible and when a mother is imprisoned without their child, there is an interference with these rights (Minson and Flynn, 2021). Under Article 9 of the 1989, United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC), children have the right not to be separated from their parents unless it is in their best interests, whilst Article 8 respects the right for a child to have family relationships (UNICEF, online). Nevertheless, when a parent is imprisoned, a child's rights may be curtailed rather than being removed entirely, unless it is in the child's best interest, the existence of MBUs and visits to facilitate contact recognises the child's right to family life and contact with their parent (Minson and Flynn, 2021). Unquestionably, in many cases a conflict of interest could arise between the justice system and the UNCRC, however by integrating the rights of the child into Scottish Law through the introduction of the Children (Scotland) Act 2020, the rights of the child must be considered in decisions made about them. This act should ensure compliance with the UNCRC and make substantial changes to the voices of children growing up in Scotland being heard in matters affecting them.

In many cases, when a parent receives a prison sentence, a child's daily structure and security can be destroyed, and often, they are rarely recognised as a distinct group within the systems and policy structures that should protect them (Wolleswinkel, 2002). When considering best interest of the child, there is no automatic entitlement or transition for a mother to be placed in an a MBU with her baby after their birth, however MBUs can play a crucial role in early stages of development and attachment for both mother and baby (Ministry of Justice, 2020).

#### 2.2 The role of MBUs

In Scotland there are three options when women give birth in custody; the baby may live with mum in the MBU, they may live in the community with an alternative caregiver, or under a shared care agreement which is a combination of them living in the MBU and in the community (University of Stirling and Aberlour, 2016). The purpose of a MBU is to allow the baby to stay with mum in the unit during her imprisonment to allow the mother/baby relationship to develop, if it is in the best interest of the child (Ministry of Justice, 2020). The most appropriate care is considered by a panel of professionals where the mother has

input in the process, with the prison governor making the final decision. Cases are assessed on an individual basis, with the consideration of the long-term best interest of the child as outlined in the Getting it Right for Every Child (GIRFEC) guidance being the final influencing factor in the decision (Scottish Government, 2008a). The GIRFEC framework outlines the responsibilities for professionals to assess a child's needs based around wellbeing indicators, and then structure a support system allowing for multi-agency information sharing (Scottish Government, 2008a). This framework indicates suggests an alignment with Ryan's (2018) authentic child model, where adults act as gatekeepers to children requiring protection (Byrne, 2016). This implies that the key agents of change (Wyness, 2006) are the professionals, positioned by the Government to improve children's outcomes by providing support to children and parents (Scottish Government 2008a).

Since 2018, only one baby has stayed in the MBU after being born in custody (SPS, 2022a). The final decision on placement in the MBU is centred around the best interest of the child, however many of the primary considerations relate to what is known of the mother's background in relation to history of victimisation, substance misuse, mental health, nature of offence and any other issues that may present challenges to successful parenting (University of Stirling and Aberlour, 2016). The 2007 Corston report brought forward issues referring to mother and baby separation and more recent research carried out in 2021 identified concerns around there being no formal mental health support for women in custody separated from their children, which if not addressed could lead to significant negative consequences for mothers as well as their babies and children (Cahalin, 2021).

Following many tragic suicides in HMP Cornton Vale in the 1990's, the 2012 Commission for Women Offenders Report, carried out by the Dame Angiolini, reported that the only exclusive female prison in Scotland was not fit for purpose, mainly due to overcrowding and women not receiving the support they needed regarding mental health during their time in custody and that rehabilitation opportunities were deemed unsatisfactory (Angiolini, 2012). The findings of this report have led to the collaboration between the Scottish Government and SPS to completely rethink the approach to the female custodial estate in Scotland (SPS, 2021).

#### 2.3 The new estate and strategy, a need for change

Prisons in Scotland have the second highest female population in Northern Europe and in 2015, the Scottish Government undertook a review into the international approaches for women in custody. This was in a bid to learn from and incorporate any existing good practice into the plans for the new estate in Scotland (Scottish Government, 2015b). In Scotland, this review initiated the beginning of the planning for the transformative changes to provision for women in custody, leading to the announcement of investment to build a new national facility, as well as the build commitment for the first two CCUs, which will provide a more 'personal, intensive and relevant approach to the needs of each individual' (Scottish Parliament Information Service, 2018).

The purpose of the five planned CCUs in Scotland is to provide both gender specific and trauma-based accommodation and services that are designed to encourage women's independence in preparation for successful reintegration into the community as responsible citizens (SPS, 2022b). Women will be housed in shared facilities, designed to blend into the existing community with no bars on the windows, where women will have access to appropriate, risk assessed local support agencies and amenities as outlined in their individual support plan (SPS, 2022b). In 2016 the Governor of the only exclusive female prison in Scotland highlighted the importance for opportunities in the new CCUs for women to rebuild links with their families and stated that there would be a mother and child area and there were plans for children 'to be able to come and stay overnight' (SPS, 2016). Baldwin (2018:55) highlights the need for supportive staff within these more 'open conditions' as relationships are key to the emotional management of mothers when maintaining their mothering role, making positive mother/staff relations crucial if or when children may be able to stay overnight.

The Vison for Justice in Scotland (Scottish Government, 2022) outlines the recognition that people are experts in their own lives and outlines core principles underpinning the need to ensure policies, procedures, systems, and environments are person centred and embedded with trauma informed practice principles. The document also highlights the need for children to have early and good quality contact with their imprisoned parent to reassure

them of their parent's wellbeing (Scottish Government, 2022). Hairston (2007) commends this approach, emphasising that feelings of abandonment and anxiety can be reduced by contact visits as they can help to promote emotional security for children by letting them see that their parent is safe.

This trauma informed, whole system approach is also echoed in the Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2025 (SPS, 2021) where SPS highlight the use of best practice in designing the new facilities and provision that relate to children while living in or visiting a custodial setting, including family rooms, visit rooms, mother/child facilities and CCUs. It has been argued that by considering 'gender-informed thinking' (Jewkes et al., 2019:1) in the creation of physical spaces and policies, SPS can build areas within the new estate intimately linked to the mothering role of women (Baldwin, 2018). These spaces provide an environment to promote positive mother and child interaction during a mother's time in custody, which can encourage relationships of secure attachment to develop (Schubert et al., 2016).

#### 2.4 Attachment

Attachment theory has foundations in the principles that children should experience intimate and warm, continuous connections in the first years of their life, providing a secure base between them and their parents or caregivers (Bowlby, 1969). When children are too young to understand why they have been separated from their parent, these continuous connections are interrupted, leading to feelings of rejection and abandonment (Flynn, 2014), and in some cases, these early attachment experiences can link to negative outcomes in later life (Bretherton, 1992). In contrast to Bowlby, Anna Freud adopts a learning theory approach where the child's attachment is the outcome of the mother attending to the child's needs (Freud, 1953) and could be carried out by any adult. A further consideration to attachment theory is offered by Schaffer and Emerson where they suggest that a child will form attachment with any caregiver and that multiple relationship attachment can be developed to include fathers, siblings, and grandparents (Shafer and Emerson, 1964). However, in each of these studies it is unclear if separation from other relationships causes the same potential anxiety as separation from the child's mother (Branstetter, 1969). It has been argued that when a child is separated from their primary caregiver because of imprisonment, their attachment can be disrupted/disorganised which could affect the emotional development of the child (Nichols and Loper, 2012; Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018). Murray and Murray (2010), in agreement, discuss the relevance of maternal incarceration and how the disruption can lead to risks of mothers and babies experiencing insecure attachment. In addition, Bretherton (2010) outlines that the effect of parental imprisonment on attachment in infants and children requires the assessment of the entire network of support around the child as children rely on other adults to look after them and to facilitate contact visits with their imprisoned parents (Minson and Flynn, 2021). If these adult relationships are complex and or strained, the child and mother may experience the concept of 'symbiotic harms' which are a framework developed to understand the negative impacts of imprisonment flowing both ways through relationships that are interdependent (Condry and Minson, 2020:1). An example of these harms could be where a family member restricts contact between an imprisoned mother and child, the mother struggles and is upset by the situation and the child may feel abandoned due to the reduction in contact (Mison and Flynn, 2021). The way in which families manage crisis using survival or resistance strategies are also recognised in the symbiotic harm's framework (Minson and Flynn, 2021). Whilst the evidence is limited on children's emotional outcomes when they do not have contact with their mother in prison, there remains consideration on the importance of maintaining some form of contact given that most mothers in custody plan to resume caregiving responsibilities on release, in these cases secure attachment could be fundamental to the success of the re-establishment of the parenting role (Schubert et al., 2016).

When considering the development of a child living in a prison, Jimenez and Palacios (2003) reported that there was no difference between them and a same age child living in the community. Whereas Catan (1992) disagrees and presented evidence that some babies' development could be disadvantaged from living in prison, although, continued to note that the decline in development was temporary and they soon caught up with their peers after returning to the community. However, they all referenced the mother's educational level and how if not supported, any gaps in the mother's education could influence the outcomes and development for their children. Myers, et al., 2017, further explores this by stating that

childhood disadvantage can stem from parental disadvantage beginning before birth, highlighting that woman who end up in prison tend to have histories of low educational attainment and vulnerabilities which have led them to commit crime (Bryne and Howells, 2002).

The best interests of the child, remains at the forefront of polices for children living in or visiting a custodial establishment, which is understandable given the potential impacts of parental imprisonment. Attachment, however, can be determined on the relationship between the child and their carer, and it is possible that policies in the best interest of the child, often overlook the impact of separation on mothers, which could be a contributing factor to the difficulties felt by both mother and child (Powell et al., 2017). Attachment theory is considered relevant in prison settings to help understand the impact of separation and provide insights into supporting women if they experience distress because of being separated from their child (Borelli et al., 2010).

#### 2.5 Separation

Having a child can be one of the most overwhelmingly important periods in any woman's life (Ministry of Justice, 2020) and throughout time the mother/child relationship has been presented as the most significant experienced by humans (Johnstone, 2019). Murray and Murray (2010) discuss the importance of understanding children's attachment and life experiences prior to the separation from their parent, as this would allow for the consideration of any potential disrupted/disorganised attachment (Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018) because of parental imprisonment. In 2012 it was reported that, of the two thirds of women with dependent children in prison in Scotland, many of them are single parents, with 80% of pregnant women in custody being single, separated or divorced (Angiolini, 2012).

In cases, when a father is imprisoned the majority of children remain in the family home where their mother continues the role as the primary caregiver (Schubert et al., 2016), however, when a mother receives a prison sentence, it is more common that children leave

the family home to live with relatives or, in some cases. the foster care system (Glaze and Maurschak, 2010). Therefore, it has been argued by many researchers that children are at increased risk of disrupted attachment relationships when their mother is incarcerated rather than their father (Dallaire, 2007; Murray and Murray, 2010; Glaze and Maurschak, 2010). Cunningham Stringer (2020), argues that not all mothers show commitment to motherhood, and some may avoid the situation or abandon their role, sacrificing their children to save themselves (Kennedy et al., 2020). Walker, (2018) goes further to say that where motherhood can act as a motivating factor, in many cases is not enough for women who have been in custody to make transformative change to their life choices. In every case the best interest of the child is the deciding factor as research indicates that children of incarcerated parents are more likely to experience positive outcomes if they receive high quality, stable caregiving during their parent's incarceration (Poehlmann, 2005).

When a parent receives a custodial sentence, many questions are raised by children regarding their disappearance, as it raises a threat to the security of the child's parental attachment (Murray and Murray, 2010). Silencing a child's questions can undermine trust (Cassidy et al., 2010; Poehlmann, 2005) and many studies highlight the need for truthful, developmentally appropriate explanations to help young children understand their absent parent have not abandoned them (Bowlby, 1969; Murray and Murray, 2010; Byng-Hall, 1995).

For most children affected by maternal imprisonment it is the first time they been separated from their mothers for more than a day or so (Epstein, 2014). Equally it can be the same for their mother, with Datesman and Cales (1983:142) describing mothering from prison as a 'profound hurt'. Pregnant women in prison describe the stress of not knowing if they will be separated from their child as particularly traumatic and they also generally feel protective over their bump and fearful that their baby may be harmed if a volatile situation occurs (Baldwin and Abbott, 2020). Recent research has highlighted global themes referring to the attachment of mothers and children and acknowledging the painful impact of 'separation as trauma' when a mother and child are separated because of a custodial sentence (Powell et al., 2017:277).

#### 2.6 Trauma

It has been reported that children and caregivers affected by parental imprisonment experience more trauma than other families (Arditti and Salva, 2015). It has also been suggested that traumatic events in childhood, including parental imprisonment can lead to lasting changes in the brain, leading to adverse health and mental health outcomes (Schore, 2013). Babies' brains are incomplete at birth, and they rely on healthy human relationships to shape development (Zeedyk, 2016), therefore, exposure to traumatic effects during early brain development in infancy can have far reaching and irreparable consequences (Perry, 1995). Women in prison have also been categorised as a being part of a 'trauma population' due to their previous exposure to trauma throughout their lifetime, including domestic violence, rape, and physical assault (Seedat et al., 2004:263). In recent years, childhood trauma has been researched as adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), one of these ten ACEs includes parental imprisonment (Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018). Baldwin (2018) suggests that the inclusion of parental imprisonment as an ACE supports the argument that the impact of trauma can be felt by children where motherhood is challenged by the social exclusion of them being in custody.

As part of the Programme for Government, the Scottish Government have initiated a leadership pledge of support for trauma informed practice, which will raise standards of support across public sector organisations, including custodial environments, recognising the existence of ACEs in the justice system (Scottish Government, 2021). This policy will work alongside the SPS (2021) strategy to include the need for practice and services to be trauma informed and person centred, to provide access to trauma informed rehabilitation and support to adults and children who come into contact with the justice system (Scottish Government, 2022).

In general prisons are not designed with children in mind which can cause fear and anxiety for children visiting (Poehlmann, 2005). There can be a lot of uncertainty and emotional difficulty when visits are non-contact, as it is difficult and confusing to tell a child they cannot touch their parent (Schubert et al., 2016) which is why a lot of mothers forgo visits entirely, as they find the lack of physical contact too painful and traumatic (Allen et al.,

2010). Research indicates that when prison establishments consider the physical space and settings for visits and make them more child friendly and non-institutional, it can enhance the visit experience for both mother and child (Arditti, 2014; Sturges and Al-Khattat, 2009). However, it has been argued that by making visits more child friendly and frequent it normalises the visit experience and uses up the child's free time preventing them from engaging in other developmentally appropriate activities (Cranmer et al., 2017). There is an increasing body of research that supports the idea that parent/child visits are most beneficial when they are part of a parenting programme that works to strengthen attachment and reduce trauma by offering emotional preparation and support before and after the visit to the parent, child, and caregiver present (Arditti, 2014).

## 2.7 The role of parenting programmes

For mothers in custody, prison can allow for professionals and external agencies to provide interventions benefiting both mother and babies', this could include a stable, targeted influence that may have not been accessible in the community but could provide support to mothers where their parenting experience could be considered chaotic (Walker et al., 2011). In supporting the findings of Walker et al., (2011), Sleed et al., (2013), notes that early attachment can be strengthened between mothers and babies in custody by establishments providing effective strategies of dedicated intervention.

Some experts claim that visits are an underused opportunity for intervention and, if visits are structured correctly, they are most effective when run in parallel with a parenting programme rather than as stand-alone activities (Beyer, 2008). However, it has been argued that only mothers who receive visits benefit from parenting programmes (Thompson and Harm, 2000). For mothers to receive visits there is a reliance on the family members the child is living with to have agency to make the best of the situation and support travel to the visit, or ensure the child is available for phone or video calls (Minson, 2019). Parental incarceration can create stigma and shame for children and their families with Cramer et al., 2017, highlighting the metaphorical bars they can find themselves locked behind, being judged by their peers and support network, including other family members. When prisons

facilitate children's visits in family friendly areas with age-appropriate activities, essential to promoting the mother and child bond, it can improve outcomes for both women and their children (Myers et al., 2017). In addition, a family friendly environment, with elements designed to maintain family ties, including live in and overnight stay options for children in an environment where children feel safe, can maximise the potential impact of parenting programmes (Paddick, 2011). The success of any parenting programme relies on the relationships between the mothers attending and the practitioners delivering the programme, allowing for feedback and for mothers to put into practice during the visit what they have learned during the programme (Beyer, 2008). These relationships can be challenging if a judgemental culture exists with prison staff who may not be committed to the benefits of visits or are not properly trained on how to interact with families and children (Cramer et al., 2017). In many custodial establishments parenting programmes are run by third sector charity organisations, where practitioners hold child development qualifications, many women attending these programmes have said the level of care offered by the charities was greater than any they had received in the wider prison environment (Baldwin and Abbott, 2020).

The goals for MBUs include providing a supportive environment with training and education that promotes child development for improved parenting and increased attachment, where if carried out successfully can help reduce recidivism by reinforcing the importance of the mothering role (Friedman et al., 2020). Research suggests that future interventions hold promise for improving the outcomes of mothers (Cassidy et al., 2013), when known factors related to reoffending can be identified and addressed through rehabilitation and parenting initiatives during their time in prison (Myers et al., 2017).

#### 2.8 Equivalence

When a mother receives a custodial sentence, they have an additional layer of judgement to other mothers and can become highly critical of themselves, as well as how their situation intersects with their role as a mother (Baldwin and Abbott, 2020). To reduce reoffending rates and enable women to use their time in custody to contribute to better outcomes for themselves and reconnect with their children (SPS, 2021), Crawley and Sparks (2005:352) highlight the need to address 'institutional thoughtlessness'. This refers to prison systems and polices not providing necessary support to a particular group, this includes perinatal women, and it has been commented by women that their pregnancy provides them no special privilege whilst in custody (Baldwin and Abbott, 2020).

This further raises the question of equivalence, whilst in custody a pregnant woman does have access to midwife care, however systematic barriers do not allow for women in prison to have the same unrestricted access to the care and expertise of a midwife experienced by pregnant women in the community (Cahalin et al., 2021). Within the prison environment, women are reliant on the system and staff to provide them with the appointments and support they need (Cahalin et al., 2021). Women in custody lack family support at key points in their pregnancy and often describe hospital visits as degrading when attending with prison staff and in some instances handcuffed (Baldwin, 2018). These experiences can affect the mental health of pregnant women by compounding what is already a stressful situation (Stanvea et al., 2015).

With the building of the new estate and implementation of new strategies, Scotland can employ policies that treat pregnant women and those separated from their children, whilst in custody, compassionately (SPS, 2021). By learning from previous lessons that exist to highlight, replicate, and encourage good practice (Baldwin and Abbott, 2020), purpose written policies can increase the likelihood of women being able to prioritise their children and families over their criminal identity (Berg and Huebner, 2011). This will allow for the formation of more stable family structures on release, which can work to minimise reoffending and keep families together (Minson and Flynn, 2021).

#### 2.9 Summary

There are many obstacles and challenges when conducting research in prison establishments, which is one of the reasons why there is limited evaluations of parenting programmes and interventions between mothers and their children (Bretherton, 2010). However, researching relevant existing literature has enabled me to understand existing contributions and define the direction of my research contribution within the existing major developments already presented in this field (Furseth and Everett, 2013).

The next chapter will outline the chosen methodology for the research including methods, design, ethics, data analysis, limitations, and ethics for study.

# Chapter 3: Methodology

This chapter will discuss the methods utilised to investigate the experiences of mothers in custody with young babies and children under the age of 18, as well as the views of professionals supporting them. It will start by first presenting two of the main empirical paradigms used in research, positivism and interpretivism. Weaver and Olsen (2006) describe paradigms as a means for a bridge between the requirements for and the production of knowledge. This research intendeds to bridge these requirements by collecting data centred on attitudes, and feelings, based on people's experiences (Ryan, 2018), which allows the findings from practical knowledge to transform understandings or change aspects of society (Campbell et al., 2004).

The chapter will also include details of both phases of the research, methods of analysis and ethical considerations relating to the research as well as considerations for trauma informed research (Beyrer and Kass, 2002). Expanding my existing knowledge will allow assurances that the most appropriate structure and methodological choice for the research is selected to most importantly, seek the experiences of mothers living in the situation (Weaver and Olson, 2006) as well as from those supporting them. Ethical issues which are pertinent will be signposted throughout the chapter and fully examined in the ethics section.

#### 3.1 The paradigm

To ensure the development of knowledge in research philosophy (Saunders et al., 2009) the researcher requires an integrated understanding of paradigms (Weaver and Olsen, 2006). Paradigms can be viewed as a set of practices and beliefs, shared by researchers to regulate inquiry and position research (Guba and Lincoln, 2005, Weaver and Olsen, 2006). Without an understanding of the paradigms available, researchers may be unable to justify their decisions on the chosen methodology and design of their inquiry (Ryan, 2018). The design of any research study will depend on the selected methodology or paradigm selected for the research, which will also influence the methods of data collection and analysis (Holloway and Galvin, 2017). Researchers have many paradigms available to them, which can be

categorised by the differences in the values and beliefs of humans (Hamilton, 1984). Hairston (1982) argues that no one paradigm is better than the other, and equally they can be neither proven nor unproven (Moccia, 1988). Each paradigm, depending on the research question or issue, sets out to achieve different results (Hairston, 1982). By exploring positivism and interpretivism as two of the main paradigms that provide two extremes of the spectrum in the empirical research paradigm, I will consider where best to situate my own research.

As a research paradigm positivism seeks to prove or disprove theories, and values the process of objectivity (Ryan, 2018). Positivism remains ontologically based on the belief that there is only one proven truth (Ryan, 2018) which is logical, and can only be considered true once the facts have been tested and retested with the same result (Bryman, 2008). Related to science and controlled experiments, positivism often consists of generalisable numerical data based principally in quantitative research (Ryan, 2018). Epistemologically, positivists believe that in the world of research, the research and the researcher are entirely separate, in that the existence of the world would remain as is without the presence of the researcher (Bryman, 2008). Guba and Lincoln (2005) go further to suggest that the findings of a positivist research study would be the same regardless of the researcher. The axiology of values and ethics included in research in the positivism paradigm have a scientific voice, created to inform facts to policy and decision makers, gearing the ethics of the study towards external policies and procedures (Guba and Lincoln, 2005). This highlights the position of the positivist paradigm being that knowledge should be objective and remain free from any researcher bias (Phillips and Burbules, 2000).

Working in opposition, interpretivism, vales subjectivity and originates from values and principles (Ryan, 2018), with ontological focus on people's experiences, arguing that there can be no single common reality, highlighting that knowledge and truth remain subjective (Ritchie and Lewes, 2003). Depending on the experiences and perceptions of the participants, the results can lead to the reporting of multiple realities (Krauss, 2005). Interpretivists' epistemologies argue that researchers will always look for qualitative methods to allow them to present knowledge differently (Adams St. Pierre, 1997) and accept that they need to remain non-judgemental and subjective, however, always

considering they may never be able to fully separate the research from their own feelings (Ryan, 2018).

Values and ethics reinforce any interpretive study involving researching with people and requires consideration of the transparency between all parties involved (McLintock et al., 2003), with the voice of the participants and the researcher always being evident in the research when values are included in the design of the study (Guba and Lincoln, 2005). The introduction of goodness will ensure the researcher integrates ethics into the process and produces findings situated in trustworthiness, noting that when working in the interpretative paradigm findings should always be shaped by experiences, opinions, and feelings of the participants (Tobin and Begley, 2004).

## 3.2 Situating the research

I will now consider where my research question and aims are best situated on the spectrum of the empirical research paradigm. As the aims for my research are based on the purpose of understanding experiences (McLintock et al., 2003), I am situating this research in the interpretive paradigm. By working within the interpretative paradigm, where the ontology is subjective and dependent on context (Guba, and Lincoln, 2005), my research project will investigate the attitudes and experiences (McLintock et al., 2003) of MBUs in Scotland, as well as the future consideration of overnight stays for other children in the CCUs. The study was carried out in a Scottish prison setting and considers the development of attachment relating to parental imprisonment (Murray and Murray, 2010). This research involves the study of people experiencing lived situations (Weaver and Olsen, 2006) and can never be separate from the values and beliefs of the researcher (Ryan, 2018). For this reason, when producing findings for this research, values and ethics will have a significant role in the collection, coding and interpretation of the data presented for analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

#### 3.3 Methods

As a qualitative study situated with the interpretive paradigm, the primary data has been collected using questionnaires and interviews to provide a collection of contemporary accounts of first-hand experiences of parental separation. When researching a topic involving participants of 'trauma populations' (Seedat et al., 2004:263) it is important to ensure every step is taken to maximise the potential benefits to the participant and researcher as well as minimising any potential risks. Newman et al., (1999) has argued that there are perceived benefits in using questionnaires and interviews when conducting studies with trauma survivors. As a method of data collection, the use of focus groups was considered as they can become a forum for change by allowing for multiple views and experiences to be shared (Race et al., 1994), however, the sharing of feelings can be emotionally challenging to participants (Gibbs, 1997). Due to the custodial location of this research, focus groups were ruled out, as maintaining confidentially would be too challenging and would require a high level of trust (Gibbs, 1997) between the group of mothers, SPS staff and professionals as participants.

The project has been carried out in two phases. Phase 1 involved the use of two questionnaires, one with pregnant women in custody, and the other for mothers who have been separated from their children because they are currently in custody. Both paper-based questionnaires were short, anonymous, and contained both open and closed questions. Phase 2 involved the interviewing of SPS staff and prison-based external agency staff working with mothers in custody. Using the responses from Phase 1 and research questions designed by the researcher, staff were asked about their perceptions and experiences of MBUs, as well as the possibility for other children to have overnight stays in the CCUs in the future. The data collected from both phases was analysed separately and coded using a thematic approach (Braun and Clarke, 2006). This process will be fully explained, in more detail, further on in this chapter.

#### 3.4 Questionnaires

When designing questionnaires, social studies can sometimes be reliant on closed questions to measure attitudes towards situations, which can guide the reply of the participant by only offering selected responses (Farrall et al., 1997), whereas using an open question, qualitative approach will allow the participants to reply noting an experience which could be closer to the truth than any of the presented options in the closed approach. Each data collection tool chosen for this research included a mix of open ended and direct questions which is considered useful when participants have had exposure to trauma (Seedat et al., 2004).

The primary data collected in Phase 1 was carried out using questionnaires with mothers currently in custody at HMP Cornton Vale, an anonymous method was chosen to allow participants the opportunity to answer freely, offering a true contemporary reflection of their own first-hand experiences with no fear of being identified. Questionnaires offered a flexible approach in that closed questions allowed for the collection of rapid statistical information, whereas open questions permitted participants to offer a more complex response based on their experiences (Menter et al., 2011). This anonymous process was chosen due to the researcher having no direct relationship with the participants and ensured the participants could answer sensitive open and closed questions honestly in private, in their own time and the results could be submitted back to the researcher confidentially (Menter et al., 2001). As the questionnaires were anonymous the participants did not have the option to withdraw at a later stage once they had given consent via the check box. The questionnaires were distributed by the researcher, once completed they were placed in a sealed envelope by the participant and returned to me, the researcher, by a prison-based member of staff to ensure anonymity. To ensure inclusion of all participants, the researcher was also available should a participant require further clarification or an audio recording of the questions. It was also explained that spelling/grammar did not matter, and it was more important they captured their responses and experience in their own words. The participants also had the option of a scribe who was not the researcher. The questionnaire responses where then analysed using thematic

analysis and coded, themes were identified and taken forward into Phase 2 interviews (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

#### 3.5 Interviews

Once the questionnaire responses from Phase 1 had been coded using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006), research questions were designed by the researcher, and included in the Phase 2 interviews with staff to ask about their perceptions and experiences of MBUs as well as the possibility for other children to have overnight stays in the CCUs in the future. Interviews were chosen as the data collection tool for Phase 2 as they allowed participants, without judgement to speak freely, telling the story behind their experiences (McNamara, online). When generating knowledge and understanding through qualitative research, conversation can be a valuable method of collecting data (Feldman, 1998). Similarly, convergent interviewing techniques have a comparable focus in that they encourage the building of rapport by allowing the researcher to begin interviews with open questions to ensure participants feel at ease and permit for conversation themes to develop holistically (Rao and Perry, 2003). Interviews enabled the researcher to build trust and empathy with the participant and allowed them to feel safe to be able to share their experiences and views (Smeaton, 2018). The interview process was not anonymous, this ensured goodness (Tobin and Begley, 2004) and interview transcripts were returned for checking and validity.

#### 3.6 Transcribing and analysis of the data

Creating credible qualitative research is reliant successful data analysis and the researcher's ability to understand what the data is telling them (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). Thematic analysis was carried out, following Braun and Clarke's (2006) six stage framework after each phase of the research. The use of thematic analysis is not bound to any epistemological perspective and considered an adaptable method of data analysis when carrying out research (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Thematic analysis allows themes to be identified using a process of coding, this is where initial codes capturing significant information relating to the

research question, are highlighted, and classified in sections within the data (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). By moving forwards and backwards through the data, codes relating to the initial proposal can be identified as well as noting any emerging themes not related to the original research question (Braun and Clarke, 2006). By engaging with literature throughout the research, and continually analysing data (Dick, 2017), any emerging questionnaire themes will be able to be identified during the process and included in the interviews (Given, 2012). As I am writing this from a perspective of having had a previous role inside the research, it was important for me to consider 'emotional data' and subjectivity when folding, unfolding, and refolding the data (Adams St. Pierre, 1997:178). As this study contains the opposing frames of 'correctional and educational' as referenced by Ragland (2006; 173), it can be argued that it may be difficult to identify an impartial frame (Schon and Rein, 1994) and that our own experiences may influence the way we view situations (Goffman, 1986). By considering honesty and ethics in the research, the findings will tell the complex story of lived experience by providing a succinct account of the data across all existing and emerging themes (Braun and Clarke, 2006). These findings can then be shared with external agencies and stakeholders in the creation of new and shared knowledge (Mellor, 2001).

#### 3.7 Ethics

Since any research may cause harm to the existing field of work it is situated in or to the participants of the study, the existence of ethics will continue to be scrutinised (Sikes, 2006). Ethics are also put in place as a safeguard for the researcher, however, it has been argued that in some cases, ethics can be influenced to provide benefit to the researcher (Fine et al., 2000). As this study is situated in the interpretative paradigm, ethics form an integral part of the research proposal, particularly as participants are expected to share their individual experiences during the data collection process (Guba and Lincoln, 2005). By correctly applying ethics to the research, a clear feedback loop will be evident, ensuring all participants know they are being researched and understand that they have an equal voice which will ensure morals are considered in any collective working (Fullan, 1993 and Anderson and Herr, 1999).

As all research will ultimately end up in the public realm (Sikes, 2000), it is important that the ethics of the study have been approved to ensure goodness in the findings, which will in turn ensure the integrity of all participants, including the researcher (Tobin and Begley, 2004). By incorporating ethicality to research in the same way we do to professional practice (Groundwater-Smith and Mockler, 2007), we can create knowledge that is not only clearly characterised, but ethically connected with the chosen methodology of the study (Cook, 1998).

To alleviate any possibility of harm or distress to participants (Hammersley and Traianou, 2012), the five principles of ethics as specified by the British Educational Research Association (BERA), have been considered in the design of this research study. The research has received University of Glasgow ethical approval (University of Glasgow, online) alongside additional ethical approval from SPS after demonstrating that the research also meets the five research principles outlined in the SPS strategy and innovation guidelines (SPS, 2017). This project is considered by the University of Glasgow ethics procedure (online) as high risk as it does cover topics sensitive in nature involving women having experiences of giving birth or being separated from their child/ren whilst being held in custody, therefore, a trauma informed lens must be considered (Scottish Government, 2021). ACEs are traumatic and or stressful events that occur during childhood that may impact on mental and physical health in later life (Scott, 2021). The Scottish Prison Service (2017), Women in Custody prison survey, revealed that six in ten women reported having four or more ACEs. It is also known that having four or more ACEs increases chances of offending or involvement in the criminal justice service (Scottish Government, 2017). All participants in Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the research were informed that due to the sensitive nature of the research they had the right to refuse to answer any of the questions if they felt it may cause distress (Fallot and Harris, 2011). By considering trauma in the early stages and ensuring trauma focused ethical principles (Scott, 2021) were embedded in the ethics framework from the beginning demonstrates the researcher valued and respected the participants at each stage of the research process.

#### 3.8 Trauma focused ethics

Relatively little is known about the effects of research on participants affected by trauma in a family context (Griffin, et al., 2003). When researching in any trauma-based field Turnbull et al., (1988) states that studies should only take place when the research question cannot be studied in any other way. Measures should be put in place to ensure all participants are always supported, especially as the research may recall traumatic memories (Kassam-Adams and Newman, 2002). It has been argued that many of the 'trauma population' (Seedat et al., 2004:263) are grateful to share their experiences and Griffin et al., (2003) goes further to say that, for many survivors sharing stories can be perceived as therapeutic. In conducting trauma focused research, the researcher must consider ethics as a framework rather than set guidelines (Seedat et al., 2004) and it may be that certain ethical principles must take precedence. The concerns for confidentiality, informed consent, disclosure, and risk of harm can be heightened as trauma can imprint a participant's, brain, mind, and body, which can negatively affect how they view themselves and the world around them (Van Der Kolk 2015).

This highlights the need for the researcher to consider any impacts of the questionnaire in Phase 1 and ensure continued engagement with stakeholders to ensure the correct support is in place for all participants. All questionnaire participants were issued a Plain Language Statement (PLS) and consent was confirmed by return of survey. As the questionnaires were anonymous the participants did not have the option to withdraw at a later stage. The main risk in Phase 2 was that due to the small scale, those taking part in the interviews may be identified. To mitigate this risk there was a PLS and Consent Form for all interview participants outlining the hazards and asking them if they wished to be referred to by job role/experience or use a pseudonym chosen by them for use in any written reports. As all transcripts were available to participants for checking they did have the option to make changes or withdraw from the process before final submission. PLS and consent forms, can be found in Appendix A, of this dissertation. Working in this way allows for the consideration of any limitations to the research and enables the researcher to think about possible mitigations and controls that could be put in place.

#### 3.9 Limitations

When carrying out research in custodial establishments there can be many obstacles, this has led to a relative lack of published research highlighting difficulties relating to the complexity of caregiving arrangements, or the separation felt by mothers and children affected by parental imprisonment (Bretherton, 2010). Cooperation from all participants will be vital to enable this research project to produce valuable qualitative findings based on attitudes, they study may be weakened if the cooperation is not available (Bryne, 2005). The potential limitation in undertaking this research was access to the custodial establishment. Due to the incarceration of the mothers, they do not have access to internet facilities and cannot complete an online questionnaire. It was therefore necessary to directly provide paper questionnaires to the participants involved in this study. For the interviews in Phase 2, SPS staff have minimal access to platforms such as Microsoft Teams and required a face-to-face interview with recording permission granted by the establishment. After submitting and receiving back ethical approval from SPS, as discussed earlier in this chapter, access was granted by SPS for the research to be carried out in the prison establishment, therefore it was important in the interest of transparency for me to ensure continued collaboration with stakeholders to ensure all participants and interested parties, including myself, were protected (McLintock et al., 2003). Due to the rebuilding of the new estate, and the movement of staff and mothers as participants, I considered that data collection may be interrupted (Shlafer and Poehlmann, 2010). Relationship building and trustworthiness (Furseth and Everett, 2013) will be essential to enable me to overcome this and ensure I can retain access to staff and mothers, even if they move establishment during the timeframe of the research project.

To allow participants to feel at ease and remain honest and open be open about their experiences, Phase 1 opted for anonymous questionnaires rather than focus groups or interviews so participants could answer freely without the fear of being singled out. All mothers can feel pressure from society to be the best mother they can be, therefore, mothers in custody can be worried about being honest and can feel even more anxiety, especially, if staff supporting them have judged them negatively based on their situation and/or location (Baldwin, 2018). The scope of this study does not allow for the whole

system of attachment relating to babies and children separated by parental imprisonment (Bretherton, 2010) to be studied, however, the consideration of the best interest of the child will be included in relation to The Early Years Framework (Scottish Government, 2008b) as well as the rights of the child included in the UNCRC Articles (UNICEF, online).

### 3.10 Summary

This chapter has outlined the methodology of the research and has demonstrated that by collaborating transparently with participants and stakeholders this research study has been ethically passed, agreeing that it meets the quality expectations in relation to academia and practice (Groundwater-Smith and Mockler, 2007). These approved ethical guidelines will ensure the voice of the participants are incorporated and can be considered by SPS to ensure women in custody know their wishes and ideas are valued (SPS, 2021) which will allow their experiences the possibility to become 'knowledge that is acted upon' (Groundwater-Smith and Mockler, 2007:208) by SPS in any future policy decisions. The next chapter will detail the analysis and findings, including reference to any implications for future practice.

# Chapter 4: Analysis and Findings

The previous chapter provided an outline of both phases of the research project and highlighted the steps taken in the design process to ensure necessary considerations were put in place due to the nature of the topic and the experiences of the participants (Seedat et al., 2004). This chapter will present data analysis and findings, and signpost to any recommendations for practice, which will be discussed fully in the following chapter. As previously stated, the data was analysed at various points of the project using Braun and Clarke's 2006 six phases of thematic analysis. This was carried out to find repeated patterns of meaning across the data set (Braun and Clarke, 2006). As part of the analysis process, I considered the 'folding, unfolding, and refolding' of the data (Adams St Pierre, 1997:178) to allow for any new themes to emerge that were not previously identified (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

### 4.1 Phase 1 analysis

Phase 1 involved the use of two anonymous questionnaires, one with pregnant women in custody, and the other with mothers who have been separated from their children because they are currently in custody. I received responses back from two pregnant women and six from mothers who have been separated from their children. Currently due to the rebuilding of the new estate at HMP Cornton Vale the numbers of women held there has dramatically reduced, however the responses I received provided sufficient data and themes to include the voice of the women (Fullan, 1993) in the Phase 2 interviews. The questionnaires for the pregnant women were designed to find out attitudes towards the continued use of MBUs and the questionnaires for the mothers separated from their children were designed to find out attitudes towards the continued use of MBUs and the questionnaires for the provision of overnight stays in the CCUs. The full questionnaires, including responses and coding can be found in the Appendix B.

#### 4.2 Phase 2 analysis

Phase 2 of the research project involved the interviewing of two SPS senior members of staff, both responsible for high level decision making including strategy, policy, and implementation. I also interviewed two staff from third sector external agencies working with women in custody, one at Chief Executive Officer (CEO) level supporting families and children of men and women in custody and the other a qualified Early Years Practitioner (EYP) working directly with mothers and children affected by parental imprisonment in HMP Cornton Vale. The interviews with staff and external agencies who support mothers in custody were also designed to find out attitudes towards the continued use of MBUs and attitudes towards the provision of overnight stays in the CCUs. The themes identified during the thematic analysis of the Phase 1 questionnaires were used to create the basis of the interview questions for Phase 2 of the research. The interviews in Phase 2 took a semi structed format with the opportunity for the themes to be further explored allowing participants to speak freely about their experiences and attitudes (McNamara, online) towards the continued use of MBUs and the possibility of overnight stays for children in the CCUs.

At the beginning of the four recorded interviews, I provided interviewees with a plain language statement and consent form to sign or verbally agree to. Three of the interviews took place face to face and one over Microsoft Teams. All names have been changed to protect the anonymity of the participants. The recorded interviews were then transcribed into written word (Halcomb and Davidson, 2006) to enable themes to be identified from the transcripts when coded using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006). As outlined in the project ethics, all transcripts were returned to each participant for checking to ensure goodness throughout the process (Tobin and Begley, 2004). Example interview questions and an extract of the interview transcript findings can be found in the Appendix C, full transcripts are available on request. At this point I combined the data analysis from both phases to identify overarching themes which will structure my overall findings. The full coding for both Phases of the research can be found in the Appendix D. Table 4.1 shown below, brings together the final key themes found in both sets of data after multiple coding and recoding (Braun and Clarke, 2006).

| Attachment | Support                   | Best Interest    |
|------------|---------------------------|------------------|
| Separation | The new estate and a need | Rights and views |
| Contact    | for change                | Equivalence      |
| Avoidance  | Trauma informed practice  | Voice            |
|            | Parenting programmes      |                  |

Table 4.1 – Combined themes from Phase 1 questionnaires and Phase 2 interviews

## 4.3 Findings

Throughout the coding process, the high number of unsure responses surprised me and indicated the uncertainty felt by women in custody when it comes to relationships with their children and any overall decisions on what is in their best interest. Levels of support were also highlighted, especially for pregnant women. Again, the high level of uncertainty and concerns around policies and procedures regarding hospital visits raised the concept of equivalence and how their treatment may differ from pregnant women not in custody (Cahalin et al., 2021). After the coding of the interview transcripts, I revisited my literature review to include avoidance as part of attachment as an emerging theme mentioned in all four of the interviews. Reflecting on previous reading and what has already been highlighted during the literature review, as well as any emerging topics, the three main themes identified and discussed in the rest of this chapter will be attachment, support, and best interest.

## 4.4 Attachment

Attachment, contact, and involvement were mentioned multiple times in both questionnaires and in all four interviews with participants, suggesting the importance of bonding between mother and child and for mum to be involved in their children's life.

*I think's it's important for mothers and kids to maintain a close relationship even when in prison....being involved in helping with homework etc......making meals for your children. (CCU, 3).* 

*I think it's really important and I wish there were more opportunities for women to be involved in their children's lives as it is important for bonding. (Jane, EYP).* 

It can be incredibly disruptive, and I think that is why you hear a lot of people say it's better for kids if they don't visit, but it's about trying to recognise what children want. (Mary, CEO).

For the MBU questionnaire neither of the women had applied for a place in the MBU as they were both due to be released from custody prior to or just after the birth of their baby.

I will be libbed 3 weeks after baby is born so no point in applying. Baby going to my boyfriend's parents from the hospital till I am out. (MBU, 1)

I will be released the day before my 20 week scan so I never bothered applying. I have rescheduled my scan so I can go to the hospital with my boyfriend. I am hoping I will never be back in here. (MBU, 2).

Both pregnant women agreed that being in the MBU could help them bond with their baby and maintaining contact may help with any feelings of abandonment felt by their children when they have been separated from their mother due to parental imprisonment (Flynn, 2014). As outlined in the UK Government report, The right to family life: children whose mothers are in prison (2019), the starting premise also aligning with the Bangkok Rules (UN General Assembly, 2010) is that the best way to safeguard a child's rights and respect family life is by not giving custodial sentences to mothers in the first place. This was echoed in the interviews where SPS indicated:

The first priority would always be, can we get mum out and back into her home environment and if that wasn't possible then can baby stay for a period once assessments have been carried out by social work. (Liam, SPS).

Although not always possible, if pregnant women could serve their remaining sentence at home this could allow the early bond to develop in a more natural environment, minimising the risk of disrupted/disorganised attachment (Nichols and Loper, 2012; Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018). Mothers parenting in a custodial establishment, may experience stigma around feeling like those early moments of attachment are being surveilled due to the environment (Walker, 2018). However, as indicated during the interviews, some women withdraw from the process or avoid situations of contact:

Maybe they feel so guilty about the way they have treated other people that they don't trust themselves to be a good mum, so they avoid, they withdraw from the process. I have met women who keep their kids at a distance and don't want to see them whilst they are in custody because of their own experiences or lack of trust in themselves. (James, SPS).

Mums just don't feel confident enough to move through the process and just give up. (Jane, EYP).

Some can even view the institutional environment of custody as a safe place compared to the potentially chaotic situation they have come from (Walker, 2018) leading to the assumption that the children are better of not having contact. This feeling of hopelessness can lead to separation which can disrupt the mother-child relationship (Rossiter et al., 2015) and prevent the forming of any attachment at all (Perry et al., 1995). Equally children and families should not be unnecessarily punished, and consideration must be taken in that:

There is always more than one person serving a sentence when someone comes to prison, the kids never did anything wrong to anyone and neither did their partner but because of what the courts decided to do with the other half, everybody is affected. (James, SPS).

It's recognising that there is a different context and a different behaviour that the rest of the family will experience with the mum in prison. (Mary, CEO).

These situations highlight barriers to promoting attachment and can also contribute to the negative effects flowing both ways between mothers and children, which can lead to mutual feelings of abandonment due to the separation caused by parental imprisonment, defined by Condry and Minson (2020:1) as 'symbiotic harms'. Feelings of abandonment may be minimised for some mothers and children through contact visits (Cramer et al., 2017). Night-time routines were mentioned in a few of the questionnaire responses as well as flexibility around visit timetables, indicating that longer day visits were favoured. Both SPS interviews agreed that contact is important for attachment and that:

*Physical contact and cuddles are important but events also....pieces of music or particular stories can create a bond. (James, SPS).* 

There was also an indication that:

It is much more beneficial to have an overnight stay in an environment the child is familiar with. Therefore, if mum can get community access, we should be looking at home leave rather than bringing a child into a custodial environment. (Liam, SPS).

Two mums also noted:

Benefits of overnights would be getting to have 'normal' night-time routines. (CCU, 2).

Being able to fall asleep together feeling content, instead of worrying at night and overthinking/feeling alone. (CCU, 1).

Whilst there is little evidence around the benefits of specific length visits (Cramer et al., 2017) it can be argued that longer, more frequent visits may improve relationships however, the relationship between the mother and the child's caregiver can be key to any contact being in place at all (Friedman et al., 2020). In both questionnaires the importance of the provision of age-appropriate resources during visits or in the MBU were highlighted.

*I feel there should be more resources and activities for kids and families during visits and to be more child friendly. (CCU, 4).* 

Prison need better mother and baby bonding visits. (MBU, 1).

Structured visits providing activities and links to wider parenting support programmes can benefit parents as well as children (Fraser, 2011) by improving opportunities for parents to provide a secure environment for attachment to be formed (Bowlby, 1969). Visits allowing contact either in a custodial establishment or in the community can have an impact on family connectedness and may improve the attachment for both mother and child by helping them to cope emotionally and reconnect with each other (Cramer et al., 2017). However, it has been argued that no matter how committed mothers appear to be to their parenting role and identity (Bartlett and Eriksson, 2018), the success of the attachment could depend on the support around them and if a holistic family centred approach is put in place to support and build greater resilience (Condry and Minson, 2020).

Possible recommendations for practice to encourage and promote attachment could include identifying levels of support for families and children whilst a mother is in custody (Cunningham Stringer, 2020). This could also involve SPS linking in with external services who support families including the independently run Family Visitors Centres within each establishment to share practice and identify potential gaps in specific support or the upskilling of staff. Only once the new estate is operational can there be any evaluation of the newly designed spaces in relation to attachment and contact between mothers in custody and children visiting. Many of these recommendations involve the support available to mothers and children, which will be discussed further in the next section.

#### 4.5 Support

Internationally, best practice includes changes to policies to ensure a gendered approach for women including mothers in custody (Bartels and Gaffney, 2011), this includes support for reproductive health needs specific to women in relation to pregnancy and childbirth (Bard et al., 2016). Given the role of women within families, custodial establishments should be looking to provide women with the services and skills they need to be better individuals and family members (Peterson et al., 2018). In the plans for the new estate in Scotland SPS are aiming to:

Be part of the solution, rather than part of the problem... We want to build relationships between staff and residents with real levels of trust, respect, honesty, integrity, and openness to facilitate people supporting each other.... That's a good foundation to build something more sophisticated, around relational engagement and becoming more trauma informed. (James, SPS). Custodial environments can be a traumatic space, securing a 'trauma population' (Seedet, at al., 2004:263) and currently by design, many are punishing environments that separate mothers from their children (Breuer et al., 2021). SPS plan to change this with the new estate and have created a trauma informed model in relation to environment and staffing, creating a softer feel with a less custodial design (Scottish Government, 2012b). The staffing for the new women's estate is planned to include:

Staff who can understand trauma and who can provide support to an individual they have a relationship with.... Ultimately the job of a prison officer needs to be to upskill mum... Women tell us time and time again that relationships are essential to them so if we can get the community partners, they need to engage with identified and tied in pre-release they are far more likely to engage post release. (Liam, SPS).

Cunningham Stringer (2020), argues that not all mothers are committed to motherhood, and some may abandon their role, sacrificing their children to save themselves (Kennedy et al., 2020). Walker, (2018) goes further to say that where motherhood can act as a motivating factor in many cases is not enough for women who have been in custody to make transformative change to their life choices. In bringing community partners to the women in custody by the forming of a community hub space within the CCUs, steps can be made towards equivalence for both women and children, where they are supported by and have access to services in a similar way as they would if they were not in custody (Cahalin et al., 2021). One mum highlighted the lack of support felt in reference to her up and coming release as:

For my release and general support there seems to have been a breakdown in communications which leaves me feeling that I'm being set up for failure for getting out as I've got someone willing to support me and I am eager to receive this because it is vital for what happens to me and baby when I am released and where I stay. (MBU, 2).

The role of the personal officers and community hubs in the new estate will aim to go one step further in supporting women in custody by:

We are trying to break down barriers and we know that even lanyards can act as a trigger for people who have suffered trauma.....The hub will be a busy dynamic area. It will be the same space that women interact with their families, engage and service providers. (Liam, SPS). In building on existing relationships, the CCU personal officer role allows for officers to attend appointments with women in the community as part of a community access approach (Liam, SPS). There will also be possibilities for women who, after risk assessment, have opportunities to leave the CCUs for an agreed time, referred to as community access, to attend appointments with staff they know who can offer support, this could also include overnight stays in their own home (Liam, SPS). This staffing approach will work towards minimising feelings echoed in the MBU responses where currently women attend appointments alone and are accompanied by transport staff they have never met before.

3 transport staff coming to appts makes it look as though the public needed to be protected more than me. 2 of them came into the room with me while personal things were talked about. (MBU, 1)

In response to this comment SPS advised:

The idea being if a woman needs to attend an external appointment and needs a bit of support in the community it would be he personal officer who would be able to support he. The new personal officer role is designed to be a bit more flexible to meet the needs of women in custody. (Liam, SPS).

One response from the MBU questionnaires demonstrated a positive experience for pregnant women working with establishment health services:

*Prison medical staff have supported me very well i.e., mother and baby nurse and GP and other hospital staff.* (MBU, 1).

By creating the reflective practice and staff professional development model planned by SPS, they can build on what they know works well which may drive improvement and can be a desirable source of learning and development in any setting (Findlay, 2008).

The rationale for upskilling staff is about creating time and space to introduce a proper professional development and supervision model.....which is part of a vehicle which will allow staff to manage their own vicarious trauma and so we can mitigate against things such as compassion fatigue. (Liam, SPS).

It has been argued that risks must be considered when carrying out any form of reflective practice, and if not managed effectively, risks can lead to reflection not empowering staff in the way desired (Brookfield, 2002). The role of support can be crucial if mothers are to be successful in re-establishing their place in the community after release as well as their

maternal role and relationships with their children (Cunningham Stringer, 2020). One way in which steps are taken to 'upskill mum' (Liam, SPS) is for custodial establishments to offer parenting programmes, where non SPS partner practitioners can build relationships with parents to encourage improved interactions and attachments between mothers and children (Cramer et al., 2017). It has been argued that such programs can cause retraumatisation (Walker, 2018) if they are delivered in a way that mothers feel like they must prove themselves as 'good mothers' (Von Weller et al., 2018:59). The interviews also indicated:

It's also recognising that parenting from prison is quite a different context and recognising what that means for people in prison, and how they can maintain those relationships, it's not just about plucking a programme from the outside and putting it in a prison. (Mary, CEO).

Currently the parenting programme on offer to women in the women's national facility is child development based, however the practitioner did comment in the interview:

I have had the opportunity to work with lots of women and can quickly build a relationship which allows me to tailor the programme to their family circumstance. Women are very good at opening up and letting you know their situation and where to go with it. (Jane, EYP).

The feedback I have received from women who have completed the programme is that what they have learned they have taken forward and carried on when they have had contact with their children. (Jane, EYP).

Traditionally parenting programmes focus on child development and are not designed to deal with the psychological distress that family separation can cause for mothers in custody (Tripodi et al., 2017). There is little research on how a mothers parenting capacity from custody intersects with their own mental health (Kennedy et al., 2020). Thompson and Harm (2000) argues that while not all mothers value their mothering role, it can be a potential motivation of change to mental health with the correct support, especially if the mothering role is considered in other programme delivery such as substance abuse and wellbeing (Tripodi et al., 2017). Maternal mental health must be considered when supporting mothering in custodial establishments and the implications of mum being able to provide and practice parenting skills (Friedman et al., 2020). This is where mothers' groups focused on parenting and supported play programmes during visits may help with bonding

and attachment for mother and child (Perry et al., 2011). The Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2015 (SPS, 2021) outlines the strategy as rights-based and founded on values and principles based on the UN Bangkok Rules (UN General Assembly, 2010) and the UNCRC (UNICEF, online). As also stated in the strategy applications for the MBUs and contact visits will be considered on an individual basis in accordance with GIRFEC (Scottish Government, 2008a) with priority given to the long-term best interest of the child.

Recommendations for practice which could be considered for supporting mothers could include the provision of programmes that address the potential distress experienced by mothers who are separated from their children (Tripodi et al., 2017). This would also link directly to mental health support where the mothering role could be included within wider programmes offered to women in custody, such as addiction and recovery. The new community hub should also offer more targeted support for mothers and children, bringing closer the equivalence between custody and the community. SPS should also consider the use of reflective practice to ensure they are moving forward with the plans for the new estate in the best interest of mothers and children (SPS, 2021). Best interest will be further discussed in the next section.

#### 4.6 Best Interest

When a mother, with sole custody or caregiving responsibilities, receive a custodial sentence, they can be at high risk of losing custody of their children either formally or informally (Dowell et al., 2018). In cases where a mother has sole caring responsibility, a 'significant other' must be appointed to become the primary caregiver while the mother is absent (Cunningham Stringer, 2020:338). In some cases, mothers can choose who their children live with and will opt for someone in their family who they trust and have some mutual respect for, to provide a parenting role in their absence (Cunningham Stringer, 2020). However, in many cases mothers face a complex formal and informal process, resulting in the state appointing care responsibilities (Kennedy et al., 2020). This was highlighted in one of the interviews:

In some cases when mums know early on that it is likely that baby will go into foster care they aren't willing to put the work in, even with support from the prison Social Work team.....They feel like they are going to be put through all of that for baby to be taken so they just decide in those early stages to sign the papers and put the foster care process in motion. (Jane, EYP).

Whilst mothers may accept that their children being cared for by others is in the best interest of the child, they also must contend with the reality that someone else is responsible for the day-to-day care of their child (Cunningham Stringer, 2020). The relationship between mother and caregiver can be challenging as co-parenting requires mutual support and agreement to contact visits (Nichols and Loper, 2012). The questionnaire responses indicated that whilst mums had feelings their baby may miss out by being in the MBU, they were unsure if they would be better off fully with other carers on the outside or if shared care was the right decision. The interviews indicated each mother and baby pair must be treated individually and there needs to be consideration to when shared care may become detrimental to the child and mother:

If having to say goodbye to the child for 3 or 4 days negatively impacts on mums' mental health, then it may be in the best interest of the child to go to someone else to have more stability. (Liam, SPS).

Lockwood (2018) suggests that mothers separated from their children are often seen as abandoning them through choice, rather than recognising that the separation felt can be a 'profound hurt' (Datesman and Cales, 1983:142) which involves the constant challenge to maintain a mothering role whilst in custody. Of the responses received from all women in the questionnaires, all were over the age of twenty-five and already had at least one child. Of the women who responded to the CCU questionnaire, all six had contact with their children and all twelve children they have between them knew where their mum was. Contact was a recurring theme throughout both questionnaires, with both pregnant women agreeing that the use of MBUs should continue. However, there was uncertainty regarding the possibility of overnight stays in the CCUs, with two in agreement, two unsure and two disagreeing. The interviews also echoed the opinion that the use of MBUs should continue in the new estate and that provision could potentially be provided geographically to meet the needs of families and make it easier for mothers to access external agencies in areas where they will return on release.

I am working with women who are breastfeeding their children who are out in foster care, trying to keep that bond and process going....in this situation why not have baby in the MBU with mum rather than mum getting out every single day to breastfeed her baby. (Jane, EYP).

In relation to overnight stays, all four interviewees also were uncertain if they should take place with the overall feeling it could be beneficial to relationship building of mothers and children:

I think it would be amazing for mums to have the opportunity to have their children stay overnight because as a mum in custody I personally know how much it would mean to me to be able to have that opportunity and how much my kids would love it. (CCU, 4).

I have worked with women who do have contact with their children but will not have them come up for visits. They just don't want their children in that environment. (Jane, EYP).

However, it would need to be assessed on a case-by-case basis and one concern included:

Mums could be desperate to see their kids but not necessarily wanting to see them in a custodial environment, therefore, it would all depend on how it looks and feels. (Mary, CEO).

This was also mentioned in the CCU questionnaire responses, with one mum commenting:

*I feel that I would like to know the layout and the procedure involved.* (CCU, 2).

All six responses from the CCU questionnaire agreed that the views and rights of the child were important, despite the difficulties some women experience in maintaining their parental rights whilst in custody (Friedman et al., 2020). The introduction of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Incorporation) (Scotland) Bill (2020) should create the opportunity for the recognition of children's views and rights to be considered when their parent receives a custodial sentence. This recognition was highlighted in one the interviews as:

It's about recognising that the best interest of the child is by definition a bigger picture. Also, what will be the processes of asking children what they want to see happen? There needs to be a recognition to listen to children and the ability to change their care plan, based on their views and needs. SPS need to consider UNCRC focus on the children who are coming in and out of prisons every day. (Mary, CEO).

In relation to overnight stays, it was widely accepted over both phases of the research, that these could be in the best interest of the child, however, would need individual consideration and would also require a change in legislation:

I can see the benefits, but even the CCUs are still a custodial environment. Our difficulty is there is no legislative framework for us to allow anyone, including a child in a prison overnight voluntary. There would need to be new legislation to make this happen and that would take time and would ultimately be a government decision. (Liam, SPS).

The Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2015 (SPS, 2021:7) describes a framework that will 'support the development of women's agency through opportunities to make choices and have their voices heard'. This highlights the importance of the need to address 'institutional thoughtlessness' (Crawley and Sparks, 2005:352) and to listen to the experience of women and children when planning new polices that directly affect them.

Recommendations for practice in relation to best interest could include the use of geographical MBU units, this would bring women with children closer to their own communities, making linking to services easier and more streamlined for when they are released. This will also help with contact visits if families have less distance to travel. The use of longer day visits could be considered until any decision can be made about overnight stays. The most important implication will be the views of mothers and children's and how their voice will be included in future. The introduction of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (Incorporation) (Scotland) Bill (2020) will place a statutory regulation for children's voice to be considered by SPS in the designing and delivery of services put in place for them (Scottish Government, 2020b).

## 4.7 Summary

The voices of mothers in custody and their children can often be overlooked as professionals work together in the best interest of the child as outlined in the GIRFEC approach (Scottish Government, 2008a). To truly identify strategies that generate meaningful support and intervention (Kennedy et al., 2020) for women in custody and their children affected by their imprisonment requires policy and programs makers to listen and incorporate the rights, views and needs of mothers and children. The next chapter will contain an overview of the research questions as well as recommendations for practice and any limitations of the research.

# Chapter 5: Conclusion

The research question aimed to investigate attitudes towards the use of MBUs in the Scottish prison estate and the possibilities of overnight stays in the CCUs for other children. In this final chapter I will consider the initial aims of the research and discuss how my findings can be used as recommendations for practice.

### 5.1 Summary of the findings

By researching with people and finding out the experiences of mothers in custody, as well as the staff and external agencies supporting them (McLintock et al., 2003), I have been able to gain a better understanding of what is already in place and what could be added to support mothers and children in the new estate. I will now summarise the findings of the research in response to the initial research aims. Overall, the research indicated that the use of MBUs should continue, and that they can promote the development of attachment (Perry et al., 1995; Bretherton, 1992) by allowing for targeted support from establishment based and external support agencies during the early stages. In relation to overnight stays for other children, the findings showed a lot of uncertainty and highlighted the need for cases to be considered individually and more information to be provided on the process. It was also evidenced that there is currently no legislation in Scotland that allows anyone to stay overnight in a prison voluntarily and until that is included in statutory law, overnight stays cannot be considered operationally (Liam, SPS). The mothers who responded to the questionnaires did indicate that they may prefer a longer day visit and a more flexible visit timetable than what is currently available. The new community hubs based in the CCUs, and the new estate will encourage supported contact visits and parenting programmes to continue as well as support from wider community agencies to build relationships with women prior to their release, which will allow for a whole system approach to mothers and children (Kennedy et al., 2020). The introduction of the CCU personal officer role will enable staff to build on existing relationships with women in custody, to provide a link for mothers to access the community closer to their release date and support women, especially those

who are pregnant to attend community-based appointments with someone they have a relationship with.

#### 5.2 Limitations

I have already identified and discussed limitations previously in Chapter 3, the main limitation being access, which was granted, ensuring co-operation from all parties taking part in the research (Bryne, 2005). By having a previous role inside the research (Adams St. Pierre, 1997), I had to put aside any personal stakes in the research (Ragland, 2006) to develop as a researcher and ensure the data moved from describing to explaining the attitudes and experiences of the participants (Miles and Huberman, 1994). This has allowed me to identify recommendations of practice for mothers, children, and stakeholders in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

#### 5.3 Recommendations for practice

As stated by Holloway and Weeler (2006) the role of the researcher is to understand the experiences of participants and not to make decisions about the reality of their situation. However, these findings indicated there is a high level of uncertainty felt by pregnant women in custody and for mothers who have been separated from their children because they are in custody. This would indicate the main recommendations for practice are around support for women, children and the staff supporting them. In supporting a 'trauma population' (Seedat et al., 2004:263), a trauma informed approach from SPS and external agency staff will be vital to building relationships and creating resilience to facilitate more positive outcomes (Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018). All partners should work together to create a community of practice where competencies are not looked at in isolation, but instead, core values and visions are shared among professionals to create good practice and achieve change (Wesley and Buysse, 2001). The creation of the community hubs will allow for the conception of resilience by allowing women to build relationships with their community through partner agencies who understand their experience (Skinner-Osei and Levenson, 2018) and the SPS personal officer role will ensure women can be supported

51

during community visits. This will enable mothers and children to feel more connected to their home communities and allow for the promotion of attachment.

In considering attachment, the research indicated a strong feeling for MBUs to continue and to be further developed to provide activities and support for pregnant women and those giving birth whilst in custody. By including the mothering role as part of wider programmes, SPS and external agencies could work to provide a whole family approach to supporting mother and child relationships and this could work to minimise feelings of worthlessness and avoidance, which can sometimes be felt by mothers in custody where 'institutional thoughtlessness' exists (Crawley and Sparks, 2005:352). By working together in adopting a trauma informed approach for women and by implementing a reflective practice model for staff, SPS can put processes in place to encourage staff to critically evaluate their responses to situations and share best practice (Finlay, 2008). These steps will work towards the sharing of good practice to promote trust when relationship building with women as well as within the staff team supporting them.

Finally, to ensure the building of positive relationships people need to feel valued, this includes all women, children, and staff, living, working, or visiting custodial establishments in Scotland. As shown by the levels of uncertainty in the research, women could benefit from support during processes, especially concerning decisions about their children, which would also include their views being considered in decision making and the designing of services put in place to support them (Kennedy et al., 2020). The incorporation of the UNCRC to Scottish Law will have implications for SPS to ensure the voices of children are included in future planning, as well as the continued consideration of acting in their best interest (Scottish Government, 2020b). It also could be useful to look at expanding the current visit offering to include longer day visits while considerations are ongoing to overnight stays. If overnight stays are to be considered in the future the experiences, views and voices of the women and children must be incorporated to ensure SPS continue towards achieving the planned outcomes of their strategy for women in custody to provide a rights-based approach to enable women to have their voices heard and that children's rights are upheld (SPS, 2021).

52

#### 5.4 Lessons learned

If I was to carry out this research again, I would add more questions on the programmes available to women in custody and their outcomes as well as investigating experiences around any mental health support available. I also feel interviews with a select number of chosen mothers in custody would help to further include their voice in the research. If this was to be the case the interview would not be anonymous, so would require a level of relationship building which could take time and would need to take place in partnership with another organisation. The anonymous questionnaire worked well due to the location and challenges of carrying out research in a custodial establishment, however, interviews would allow me to further explore the data gained from the questionnaires and for women to speak freely and add their own experience in their own words (McNamara, online). Due to the size of this project, and the low numbers of women in custody in HMP Cornton Vale at the time of the study I feel further research could expand the findings of my investigation.

#### 5.5 Future research

Given the small scale of this investigation, any further research would add value to these findings as well as the wider research field. During this research I have identified three possibilities for future research. Firstly, with the new estate and CCUs not open yet, it would be advisable to follow up on any challenges and successes in the first few years to investigate if the new plans have made a difference to the experiences of women separated from their children whilst in custody and for children living with or visiting them. Secondly, the level of uncertainty felt by women in custody is worthy of further research, especially into the levels of distress experienced by separation from their children and what steps could be put in places to support mothers and work to limit feelings of mothering avoidance and worthlessness (Breuer et al., 2021). Thirdly, in terms of a much wider perspective in relation to equivalence and in a bid to make the residential offer from SPS more gender neutral, could the CCU establishment model be available to fathers in custody. In terms of my own professional development, I am interested in exploring the challenges and successes of the CCUs and investigating the possibility of them being offered to males as part of a gender-neutral inclusion of services offered to everyone in custody in Scotland.

## 5.6 Conclusion

This research set out to investigate attitudes towards the continued use of MBUs and the possibilities for overnight stays for children in the CCUs in Scotland and has highlighted the importance of including a dedicated space within custodial establishments to ensure the promotion of attachment between mothers and children (Baldwin, 2018). In providing trauma informed spaces and staff approaches, SPS can work to build relationships with women, and with external agencies to support mothers living with or separated from their children, these relationships can have positive implications for successful integration back into the community following release. By including the views of mothers and children, SPS can look to provide wider targeted programmes to include the mothering role, where programmes can be delivered in establishment or potentially externally, as part of community access. Parenting from custody will always remain a traumatic experience, however, by creating gender specific policies and establishments, Scotland can work towards becoming a role model for the provision of spaces that work in the best interest of the child to promote attachment for children living in or visiting their mothers in a custodial environment.

## Appendix A: Plain language statements and consent forms



# Plain Language Statement Questionnaire

#### Title of project and researcher details

To investigate attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

Researcher: xxxxxxx

Supervisor: Dr Mary Wingrave

Course: MEd Childhood Practice

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Please ask if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether you wish to take part.

Thank you for taking the time to read this.

#### What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to investigate attitudes towards the continued use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possibility of other children having overnight stays in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

#### Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen as you are currently being held in custody and you are pregnant or have at least one child aged 17 years old or younger.

#### Do I have to take part?

Participation in this research is voluntary and it is up to you to decide whether to take part. If you decide to take part, there is a tick box for consent on the questionnaire. I will presume

consent to use the data for the research if this box is ticked. All questionnaires are anonymous and at no point are you asked to identify yourself.

#### What will happen to me if I take part?

If you decide to take part, you will complete a short paper questionnaire which will take approximately 30mins to complete. This will ask about your experiences and or challenges of being in or accessing the Mother and Baby Unit or your views on the possibility of other children having overnight stays in the Community Custodial Units. You do not have to answer any questions that you do not want to. The completed questionnaire will be placed in a sealed envelope and should be returned to a Scottish Prison Service Officer and will then be returned to the researcher ensuring they remain anonymous.

I will be finished gathering data by May 2021.

#### Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

All information which is collected about you during the research will be kept strictly confidential. All questionnaire responses are anonymous. Therefore, when I write about what I have found no names will ever be mentioned. I will keep all the data I collect in a locked cabinet or in a locked file on my computer.

Please note that assurances on confidentiality will be strictly adhered to unless evidence of wrongdoing or potential harm is uncovered. In such cases the University may be obliged to contact relevant statutory bodies/agencies.

#### What will happen to the results of the research study?

I will analyse the data I collect and present this in the dissertation which I am writing for my qualification, MEd Childhood Practice. A written summary of the findings will also be shared with the Scottish Prison Service. I will destroy the data at the end of the project.

#### Who has reviewed the study?

This project has been reviewed by the University of Glasgow Ethics Forum as well as the Scottish Prison Service Ethics Committee.

#### Contact for Further Information

If you have any concerns regarding the conduct of this research project, you can contact my supervisor Dr Mary Wingrave, email: <u>Mary.Wingrave@glasgow.ac.uk</u> or the University of Glasgow Ethics Officer Barbara Read, email: <u>Barbara.Read@glasgow.ac.uk</u>

End. \_\_\_\_\_



# Plain Language Statement - Interview

#### Title of project and researcher details

To investigate attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

Researcher: xxxxxxx

Supervisor: Dr Mary Wingrave

Course: MEd Childhood Practice

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Please ask if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part.

Thank you for taking the time to read this.

#### What is the purpose of the study?

The purpose of this study is to investigate attitudes towards the continued use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possibility of other children having overnight stays in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

#### Why have I been chosen?

You have been chosen as you are currently or have been working with mothers in custody who are pregnant or have young babies.

#### Do I have to take part?

Participation in this research is voluntary and it is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you decide to take part, you are still free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason.

Not taking part, or withdrawing from the research after you have started, will not jeopardise your position or employment.

#### What will happen to me if I take part?

If you decide to take part, you will attend an online or face to face interview (technology dependant) lasting no more than 90 minutes. The interview will either be audio taped or recorded online. You will be asked to discuss your experiences of the previous MBUs and also your views on their continued use as well as the possibility of other children having overnight stays in the Community Custodial Units. You do not have to answer any questions that you do not want to. If you will feel upset or distressed, you may leave during the research process.

Following initial transcription and my initial analysis of the data you will be given an opportunity to further comment on the data. This will further support the authenticity and potentially add/clarify further analysis. I will be finished gathering data by May 2021.

#### Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Any data collected will be kept confidential and anything that can identify you will be removed from any writing arising from this project. You will be identified by a code. Please however note that complete confidentiality may not be possible due to the uniqueness of the situation and location. Furthermore, assurances of confidentiality will be strictly adhered to but if evidence of wrongdoing or potential harm is uncovered, I then may be obliged to contact relevant statutory bodies/agencies. Any written or recorded data collected from the recordings will be kept in the researcher's property and any files stored on the computer will only be accessible using a password. At the end of the research period, December 2022, any paper documents, and any recordings will be erased and any files containing any data collected will be deleted.

#### What will happen to the results of the research study?

I will analyse the data I collect and present this in the dissertation which I am writing for my qualification, MEd Childhood Practice. A written summary of the findings will also be shared with the Scottish Prison Service. I will destroy the data at the end of the project.

#### Who has reviewed the study?

This project has been reviewed by the University of Glasgow Ethics Forum.

#### Contact for Further Information

If you have any concerns regarding the conduct of this research project, you can contact my supervisor Dr Mary Wingrave, email: <u>Mary.Wingrave@glasgow.ac.uk</u> or the University of Glasgow Ethics Officer Barbara Read, email: <u>Barbara.Read@glasgow.ac.uk</u>

End.\_\_\_\_\_



# **Consent Form - Interview**

**Title of Project:** To investigate attitudes towards the use of Mother and Baby Units (MBUs) and the possible use of overnight stays for children in the Community Custodial Units (CCUs) in the new custodial estate in Scotland.

#### Name of Researcher: xxxxxxx

- 1. I confirm that I have read and understand the Plain Language Statement for the above study and have had the opportunity to ask questions.
- 2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time, without giving any reason.
- 3. I consent and acknowledge to following clauses relevant to the research project:
  - The interview being audio-taped or recorded online.
  - Copies of the transcripts can be returned to participants for verification.
  - Participants will be referred to by code in any publications arising from the research.
  - Participation, non-participation or withdrawal in the research will have no effect on my professional relationship with the researcher.
  - Complete confidentiality cannot be assured and in case of evidence of wrongdoing or potential harm is uncovered, the researcher may be obliged to contact relevant statutory bodies/agencies.
  - I understand that the research project explores views and opinions of children's rights and attachment between mothers and children, not child protection issues.
  - The session will be recorded and if I wish to participate, the recording will only be used for transcript purposes by the researcher. The recording itself will then be deleted.
  - I know that I can withdraw from this project after the online session by writing to ask that my contribution be deleted. However, once the researcher has analysed the data and codes have been allocated to all contributors, I will no longer be able to ask for my input to be deleted.
- 4. I agree / do not agree (delete as applicable) to take part in the above study.

| Name of Participant | Date | Signature |  |
|---------------------|------|-----------|--|
| Researcher          | Date | Signature |  |

# Appendix B: Questionnaire responses and coding



# Questionnaire Mother and Baby Unit

#### Consent

| By ticl              | king this box I gi | ve cons               | sent to m        | ny answ  | ers being                      | used as pa  | art of this   | resear  | ch project |      |
|----------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|------------------|----------|--------------------------------|-------------|---------------|---------|------------|------|
| <b>Age</b><br>18-24  |                    | 25-34                 |                  | 1        | 35-44                          | 1           | Over          | 45      |            |      |
| <b>How r</b><br>None | nany children d    | o you h               | ave?             | 2        | 3                              | 4           |               | 5+      |            |      |
| <b>How c</b><br>0-1  | old are you child  | lren? (t              | ick all th       | at apply | /)<br>4                        | ] 5         | 1             | 5+      | 2          |      |
| <b>Have</b> Yes      | you ever given b   | oirth wł<br>No        | nilst in cu<br>2 | ustody?  |                                |             |               |         |            |      |
| <b>Have</b> Yes      | you ever applied   | <b>d for ap</b><br>No | oplied for       | r a spac | <b>e in the m</b><br>Not Appli |             | baby uni<br>2 | t?      |            |      |
| <b>Are yc</b><br>Yes | ou pregnant?<br>2  | No                    |                  |          | Possibly                       |             |               |         |            |      |
| <b>lf you</b><br>Yes | are pregnant, a    | <b>re you</b><br>No   | consider<br>2    | ing an a | applicatior<br>Unsure          | n for the c | urrent m      | other a | nd baby u  | nit? |

On a scale of 1-5, with 1 being poor and 5 being excellent how would you rate the application process?



#### Please explain your answer?

- 'Will be libbed 3 weeks after baby is born so no point in applying. Baby going to my boyfriends parents from the hospital till I am out.' MBU, 1
- 'I will be released the day before my 20 week scan so I never bothered applying. I have rescheduled my scan so I can go to the hospital with my boyfriend. I am hoping I will never be back in here.' MBU, 2

#### Please consider the following statements and tick the box that you agree with best.

| Statement   | Strongly | Agree | Unsure | Disagree | Strongly | N/A |
|---|----------|-------|--------|----------|----------|-----|
|   | Agree    |       |        |          | Disagree |     |
| Being in a mother and baby unit<br>with my baby would help me<br>bond more.                   | 2        |       |        |          |          |     |
| Having a strong bond with my baby is important to me.   | 2        |       |        |          |          |     |
| Mother and baby units are in the best interest of babies.                                     | 1        |       | 1      |          |          |     |
| The use of mother and baby units should continue.   | 1        | 1     |        |          |          |     |
| I would rather my baby stayed outside with family members.                                    |          |       |        | 2        |          |     |
| I feel my baby would miss out if<br>they stayed with me in a mother<br>and baby unit.         |          | 1     |        | 1        |          |     |
| My baby may struggle when they leave the mother and baby unit.                                |          |       | 2      |          |          |     |
| I would struggle when it comes<br>time for my baby to leave and I<br>may still be in custody. | 1        |       | 1      |          |          |     |
| I would feel lonely being in a mother and baby unit.  |          |       | 1      | 1        |          |     |
| I accept that it might be best for<br>my baby to stay on the outside                          |          |       | 2      |          |          |     |

| with family members rather than with me.   |  |   |  |  |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| I would prefer a shared care<br>arrangement where baby stayed<br>some time with me and some<br>time with family members. |  | 2 |  |  |

Please use this box to add any other comments. This may include:

- Any positive or negative experiences
- Any changes or improvements that could be made to the application process
- Any challenges you have personally had when having a baby in custody
- Anything that can be done to improve contact for mothers and babies

'I feel that I've been supported as much as I should have been with comfort including clothing, cushions and housing.' MBU, 2

'For my release and general support there seems to have been a breakdown in communications which leaves me feeling that I'm being set up for failure for getting out as I've got someone willing to support me and I am eager to receive this because it is vital for what happens to me and baby when I am released and where I stay.' MBU, 2

'3 transport staff coming to appts makes it look as though the public needed to be protected more than me. 2 of them came into the room with me while personal things were talked about.' MBU, 1

'Prison medical staff have supported me very well i.e., mother and baby nurse + GP and other hospital staff.' MBU, 1

'Prison need better mother and baby bonding visits.' MBU, 1

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.



# **Questionnaire Community Custodial Units**

#### ~

| Consent                   |           |                  |            |            |                 |                  |
|---------------------------|-----------|------------------|------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|
| By ticking this box I giv | /e conse  | nt to my answ    | ers bein   | g used     | as part of this | research project |
| Age                       |           |                  |            |            |                 |                  |
| 18-24                     | 25-34     | 2                | 35-44      | 1          | Over 45         | }                |
| How many children do      | o you hav | ve?              |            |            |                 |                  |
| None 1                    | 1         | 2 4              | 3          | 1          | 4               | 5+               |
| How old are you child     | ren? (tic | k all that apply | ()         |            |                 |                  |
| 0-1 1 2                   |           | 3 <b>2</b>       | 4          |            | 5               | 5+ <b>9</b>      |
| Do you currently have     | contact   | with your chil   | dren?      |            |                 |                  |
| Yes 6                     | No [      |                  | Workin     | g towar    | rds             |                  |
| How do you keep in to     | ouch wit  | h your childrer  | n? (tick a | all that a | apply)          |                  |
| Phone 4 Letter            | 2         | Virtual Visit    | 3          | Face to    | Face Visit      | 4 No Contact     |
| Do your children know     | where     | you are?         |            |            |                 |                  |

Do you think children should have overnight stays in the new Community Custodial Units?

Unsure

2 No 2 Unsure 2 Yes

No

Please explain your answer?

Yes

6

- 'I think it would be amazing for mums to have the opportunity to have their children stay overnight because as a mum in custody I personally know how much it would mean to me to be able to have that opportunity and how much my kids would love it.' CCU, 4
- 'I think it's important for mothers and kids to maintain a close relationship even when in prison.' CCU, 3

#### • 'I feel that I would like to know the layout and the procedure involved.' CCU, 2

If you do think children should be considered to stay overnight what age group do you think this should be for?

Under 1 Under 5 5-12 1 12+ Any 3 Don't agree 2

Please consider the following statements when considering having children stay overnight in a Community Custodial Unit with their mum and tick the box that you agree with best.

| Statement  | Strongly | Agree | Unsure | Disagree | Strongly | N/A |
|--|----------|-------|--------|----------|----------|-----|
|  | Agree    |       |        |          | Disagree |     |
| It would help improve<br>relationships between mother<br>and child/ren.                  | 3        | 1     | 2      |          |          |     |
| It would help the child/ren to know mum is safe.   | 3        | 1     | 2      |          |          |     |
| It would allow mum to be more<br>involved in decisions about their<br>child/ren.         | 3        | 1     | 2      |          |          |     |
| I would prefer they did not stay overnight.  | 2        |       | 2      |          | 2        |     |
| It would be hard for mum when<br>the child/ren left the next<br>morning.                 | 2        | 4     |        |          |          |     |
| It would be hard for the child/ren when they left the next morning.                      | 3        | 1     | 2      |          |          |     |
| Staying overnight is in the best interest of the child.                                  | 1        |       | 3      |          | 2        |     |
| The views and rights of children are important.  | 5        | 1     |        |          |          |     |
| A longer day visit would be better than staying overnight.                               | 2        |       | 2      | 2        |          |     |
| Children would benefit from a more flexible visit timetable.                             | 4        | 2     |        |          |          |     |
| It would be better for children<br>not to visit their mum whilst they<br>are in custody. |          |       | 2      |          | 4        |     |

Please use this box to add any other comments. This may include:

- Any positive or negative experiences
- How you would you and your child benefit for overnight stays?
- Any challenges you have personally had when having a baby in custody
- Anything that can be done to improve contact for mothers and children

'Being able to fall asleep together feeling content, instead of worrying at night and overthinking/feeling alone.' CCU, 1

'Being involved in helping children with homework etc.' CCU, 3

'Making meals for your children.' CCU, 3

'Having longer to spend time together than just the average visit times.'

'I feel there should be more resources and activities for kids and families during visits and to be more child friendly.' CCU, 4

'Benefits of overnights would be getting to have 'normal' night-time routines.' CCU, 2

'I was unsure in a few questions as I feel it depends on the child's age and what they have been told about where their mum is.'

'I never told my children I was going to court.' CCU, 2

'I didn't expect a sentence, so I never told my children. I thought I would be back home from court.' CCU, 2

'My son's dad is making contact difficult, and he also has a new girlfriend.' CCU, 2

Thank you for taking the time to complete this questionnaire.

# MBU and CCU questionnaire coding

| Agree    | MBUs can help with bonding                 |
|----------|--|
|          | Having a strong bond is important          |
|          | Are in the best interest of the child      |
|          | Use should continue                        |
|          | Baby may miss out being in an MBU          |
|          | Mum would struggle when baby leaves MBU    |
| Unsure   | Are in the best interest of the child      |
|          | Mum would feel lonely in an MBU            |
|          | Baby may struggle when they leave the MBU  |
|          | Mum would struggle when baby leaves MBU    |
|          | It might be best for baby to stay outside  |
|          | Mum would prefer a shared care agreement   |
| Disagree | Baby should stay outside with other family |
|          | Baby may miss out being in an MBU          |
|          | Mum would feel lonely in an MBU            |

Attitudes towards MBUs continued use coding

## Attitudes towards MBUs continued use theme coding

| Agree    | MBUs can help with bonding                 |
|----------|--|
|          | Having a strong bond is important          |
|          | Are in the best interest of the child      |
|          | Use should continue                        |
|          | Baby may miss out being in an MBU          |
|          | Mum would struggle when baby leaves MBU    |
| Unsure   | Are in the best interest of the child      |
|          | Mum would feel lonely in an MBU            |
|          | Baby may struggle when they leave the MBU  |
|          | Mum would struggle when baby leaves MBU    |
|          | It might be best for baby to stay outside  |
|          | Mum would prefer a shared care agreement   |
| Disagree | Baby should stay outside with other family |
|          | Baby may miss out being in an MBU          |
|          | Mum would feel lonely in an MBU            |

# Attitudes towards MBUs continued use theme and category coding

| Themes                     | Categories   | Quotes                              |
|----------------------------|--------------|-------------------------------------|
| Attachment                 | Promote      | 'Prison need better mother and      |
|                            |              | baby bonding visits.'               |
|                            | Important    |                                     |
|                            | Separation   | 'I am hoping I will never be back   |
|                            |              | in here.'                           |
| Best interest of the child | Contact      |                                     |
|                            | Miss out     |                                     |
|                            | Stay outside | 'Baby going to my boyfriend's       |
|                            |              | parents from the hospital till I am |
|                            |              | out.'                               |
| Support                    | Lonely       |                                     |
|                            | Voice        | 'I feel that I've been supported as |
|                            |              | much as I should have been with     |
|                            |              | comfort including clothing,         |
|                            |              | cushions and housing.'              |
|                            |              |                                     |
|                            |              | '3 Geoamey staff coming to appts    |
|                            |              | makes it look as though the         |
|                            |              | public needed to be protected       |
|                            |              | more than me. 2 of them came        |
|                            |              | into the room with me while         |
|                            |              | personal things were talked         |
|                            |              | about.'                             |
|                            |              |                                     |
|                            |              | 'Prison medical staff have          |
|                            |              | supported me very well i.e.,        |
|                            |              | mother and baby nurse + GP and      |
|                            |              | other hospital staff.'              |
|                            | Uncertainty  | 'For my release and general         |
|                            |              | support there seems to have         |
|                            |              | been a breakdown in                 |
|                            |              | communications which leaves me      |
|                            |              | feeling that I'm being set up for   |
|                            |              |                                     |
|                            |              | failure for getting out as I've got |
|                            |              | someone willing to support me       |
|                            |              | and I am eager to receive this      |
|                            |              | because it is vital for what        |
|                            |              | happens to me and baby when I       |
|                            |              | am released and where I stay.'      |

# Attitudes towards overnight stays in CCUs coding

| Agree    | Improve relationships                     |
|----------|---|
|          | Reassure child mum is safe                |
|          | Allow mum to be more involved             |
|          | Should not stay overnight                 |
|          | Hard for mum when child leaves            |
|          | Hard for child when they leave            |
|          | Best interest of the child                |
|          | Children's views and rights are important |
|          | Longer day visit would be better          |
|          | Visit timetable should be more flexible   |
| Unsure   | Improve relationships                     |
|          | Reassure child mum is safe                |
|          | Allow mum to be more involved             |
|          | Should not stay overnight                 |
|          | Hard for child when they leave            |
|          | Best interest of the child                |
|          | Longer day visit would be better          |
|          | Children should not have contact          |
| Disagree | Should not stay overnight                 |
|          | Best interest of the child                |
|          | Longer day visit would be better          |
|          | Children should not have contact          |

## Attitudes towards overnight stays in CCUs theme coding

| Agree    | Improve relationships                     |
|----------|---|
|          | Reassure child mum is safe                |
|          | Allow mum to be more involved             |
|          | Should not stay overnight                 |
|          | Hard for mum when child leaves            |
|          | Hard for child when they leave            |
|          | Best interest of the child                |
|          | Children's views and rights are important |
|          | Longer day visit would be better          |
|          | Visit timetable should be more flexible   |
| Unsure   | Improve relationships                     |
|          | Reassure child mum is safe                |
|          | Allow mum to be more involved             |
|          | Should not stay overnight                 |
|          | Hard for child when they leave            |
|          | Best interest of the child                |
|          | Longer day visit would be better          |
|          | Children should not have contact          |
| Disagree | Should not stay overnight                 |

| Best interest of the child       |
|----------------------------------|
| Longer day visit would be better |
| Children should not have contact |

# Attitudes towards overnight stays in CCUs theme and category coding

| Themes                     | Categories       | Quotes                              |  |
|----------------------------|------------------|-------------------------------------|--|
| Attachment                 | Promote          | 'I think it's important for mothers |  |
|                            |                  | and kids to maintain a close        |  |
|                            |                  | relationship even when in prison.'  |  |
|                            | Night-time       | 'Being able to fall asleep together |  |
|                            | Ũ                | feeling content.'                   |  |
|                            |                  | 'Benefits of overnights would be    |  |
|                            |                  | getting to have 'normal' night-     |  |
|                            |                  | time routines.'                     |  |
|                            | Reassurance      | 'I never told my children I was     |  |
|                            |                  | going to court.'                    |  |
|                            | Involvement      | 'Being involved in helping          |  |
|                            |                  | children with homework etc.'        |  |
|                            |                  | 'Making meals for your children.'   |  |
|                            | Access           | 'Having longer to spend time        |  |
|                            |                  | together than just the average      |  |
|                            |                  | visit times.'                       |  |
|                            | Separation       | 'My son's dad is making contact     |  |
|                            |                  | difficult, and he also has a new    |  |
|                            |                  | girlfriend.'                        |  |
| Best interest of the child | Views and rights |                                     |  |
|                            | Contact          | 'As a mum in custody I personally   |  |
|                            |                  | know how much it would mean         |  |
|                            |                  | to me to be able to have that       |  |
|                            |                  | opportunity and how much my         |  |
|                            |                  | kids would love it.'                |  |
| Support                    | Confidence       | 'I think it would be amazing for    |  |
|                            |                  | mums to have the opportunity to     |  |
|                            |                  | have their children stay            |  |
|                            |                  | overnight.'                         |  |
|                            | Contact          | 'I didn't expect a sentence, so I   |  |
|                            |                  | never told my children. I thought   |  |
|                            |                  | I would be back home from           |  |
|                            |                  | court.'                             |  |

# Appendix C: Example interview questions and extract of interview transcript analysis



#### Indicative Interview Questions

#### **Common Questions**

- Job role/experience of MBUs.
- How long in role/MBUs?
- What support is offered to pregnant women are while in custody?
- How supported do you feel mothers are when they are separated from their babies and or child/ren?
- How important are MBUs and CCUs?
- Role of SPS in the units. Discuss.
- Role of external agencies. Discuss.
- Should children be able to have overnight stays in CCUs?
- What would be the advantages/challenges of this?
- Discuss the continued use of MBUs and their role in community justice on release.

#### **SPS Specific Questions**

- What are your views/experiences of the use of MBUs?
- Should they be used in the future custodial estate?
- New strategy moving towards mentors rather than officers. How confident do you feel that staff are aware of and are equipped to deliver trauma informed services?
- Should other children stay overnight in CCUs?

#### **External Agency Questions**

- Do you think MBUs are in the best interest of the child?
- When considering preparation for release how could MBUs and CCUs support mothers, babies and children reintegrate back into the community?
- What are the advantages and disadvantages of children staying overnight in CCUs?

# Extract of interview transcript analysis

| Attachment                            | Support                             | Best Interest                        |
|---------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| It can be incredibly disruptive, and  | Be part of the solution, rather     | If having to say goodbye to the      |
| I think that is why you hear a lot    | than part of the problem We         | child for 3 or 4 days negatively     |
| of people say it's better for kids if | want to build relationships         | impacts on mums' mental health,      |
| they don't visit, but it's about      | between staff and residents with    | then it may be in the best interest  |
| trying to recognise what children     | real levels of trust, respect,      | of the child to go to someone else   |
| want.                                 | honesty, integrity, and openness    | to have more stability.              |
| (Mary, CEO)                           | to facilitate people supporting     | (Liam, SPS)                          |
| I think it's really important and I   | each other That's a good            | Mums could be desperate to see       |
| wish there were more                  | foundation to build something       | their kids but not necessarily       |
| opportunities for women to be         | more sophisticated, around          | wanting to see them in a custodial   |
| involved in their children's lives as | relational engagement and           | environment, therefore, it would     |
| it is important for bonding.          | becoming more trauma informed.      | all depend on how it looks and       |
| (Jane, EYP)                           | (James, SPS)                        | feels. (Mary, CEO)                   |
| The first priority would always be,   | Staff who can understand trauma     | It's about recognising that the      |
| can we get mum out and back           | and who can provide support to      | best interest of the child is by     |
| into her home environment and if      | an individual they have a           | definition a bigger picture. Also,   |
| that wasn't possible then can         | relationship with Ultimately the    | what will be the processes of        |
| baby stay for a period once           | job of a prison officer needs to be | asking children what they want to    |
| assessments have been carried         | to upskill mum Women tell us        | see happen? There needs to be a      |
| out by social work.                   | time and time again that            | recognition to listen to children    |
| (Liam, SPS).                          | relationships are essential to      | and the ability to change their      |
| Mums just don't feel confident        | them so if we can get the           | care plan, based on their views      |
| enough to move through the            | community partners, they need to    | and needs. SPS need to consider      |
| process and just give up.             | engage with identified and tied in  | UNCRC focus on the children who      |
| (Jane, EYP)                           | pre-release they are far more       | are coming in and out of prisons     |
| Maybe they feel so guilty about       | likely to engage post release.      | every day.                           |
| the way they have treated other       | (Liam SPS)                          | (Mary, CEO)                          |
| people that they don't trust          | The idea being if a women needs     | In some case when mums know          |
| themselves to be a good mum, so       | to attend an external               | early on that it is likely that baby |
| they avoid, they withdraw from        | appointment and needs a bit of      | will go into foster care they aren't |
| the process. I have met women         | support in the community it would   | willing to put the work in, even     |
| who keep their kids at a distance     | be he personal officer who would    | with support from the social work    |
| and don't want to see them whilst     | be able to support herWe are        | teamThey feel like they are          |
| they are in custody because of        | trying to break down barriers and   | going to be put through all of that  |
| their own experiences or lack of      | we know that even lanyards can      | for baby to be taken so they just    |
| trust in themselves.                  | act as a trigger for people who     | decide in those early stages to      |
| (James, SPS).                         | have suffered traumaThe hub         | sign the papers and put the foster   |
| There is always more than one         | will be a busy dynamic area. It     | case process in motion.              |
| person serving a sentence when        | will be the same space that         | (Jane, EYP)                          |
| someone comes to prison, the kids     | women interact with their           | I can see the benefits, but even     |
| never did anything wrong to           | families, engage and service        | the CCUs are still a custodial       |
| anyone and neither did their          | providers.                          | environment. Our difficulty is       |
| partner but because of what the       | (Liam, SPS)                         | there is no legislative framework    |
| courts decided to do with the         | It's also recognising that          | for us to allow anyone, including a  |
| other half, everybody is affected.    | parenting from prison is quite a    | child in a prison overnight          |
| (James, SPS).                         | different context and recognising   | voluntary. There would need to       |
| It's recognising that there is a      | what that means for people in       | be new legislation to make this      |
| different context and a different     | prison, and how they can            | happen and that would take time      |
| behaviour that the rest of the        | maintain those relationships, it's  | and would ultimately be a            |
| family will experience with the       | not just about plucking a           | government decision.                 |
| mum in prison.                        | programme from the outside and      | (Liam, SPS)                          |
| (Mary, CEO)                           | putting it in a prison.             | · ···· / -· - /                      |
|                                       | (Mary, CEO)                         |                                      |

| Themes           | Categories  | MBU Questionnaire  | CCU Questionnaire  | Interviews   |
|------------------|---|--|--|--|
| Attachment       | - Separation.<br>- Involvement.<br>- Avoidance.   | <ul> <li>Importance of<br/>attachment and the role<br/>of MBUs to help with<br/>bonding.</li> <li>Mum would rather<br/>baby was in MBU yet<br/>unsure if baby may be<br/>better off outside.</li> <li>Would benefit from<br/>improved prison<br/>bonding visits, use of<br/>MBUs should continue.</li> <li>General uncertainty.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Improved resources<br/>provision and longer day<br/>visits.</li> <li>Unsure or disagree<br/>that children should not<br/>maintain contact.</li> <li>Involvement for mum<br/>in child's life.</li> <li>Importance of night-<br/>time routine and<br/>flexibility with visit<br/>times.</li> <li>General uncertainty.</li> <li>Importance of<br/>maintaining a close<br/>relationship.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Abandonment.</li> <li>Avoidance/prison a<br/>safe space.</li> <li>Unstructured visit<br/>timetable.</li> <li>Home visits.</li> <li>Complicated process<br/>for mothers.</li> <li>Feeling inadequate.</li> <li>Contact visits.</li> <li>First option to get<br/>mum home</li> <li>Importance of<br/>milestones.</li> <li>Technology used in<br/>visits.</li> </ul>   |
| Support          | <ul> <li>The new</li> <li>estate and the</li> <li>need for</li> <li>change.</li> <li>Trauma</li> <li>Informed</li> <li>Practice.</li> <li>Parenting</li> <li>Programmes.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Mums may be lonely<br/>and may struggle when<br/>baby leaves.</li> <li>Level of support from<br/>family on the outside.</li> <li>General comfort and<br/>support from mother<br/>and baby nurse.</li> <li>Procedures and<br/>policies around<br/>attending hospital visits<br/>and involvement from<br/>other professionals.</li> </ul>   | <ul> <li>Hard for mum when<br/>child leaves.</li> <li>May be hard for child<br/>when they leave.</li> <li>Reliance on family on<br/>the outside.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Programmes.</li> <li>Trauma Informed<br/>Practice.</li> <li>Reflective<br/>practice/personal<br/>development model.</li> <li>Community hub within<br/>CCU.</li> <li>Importance of<br/>relationships.</li> <li>Personal officer model.</li> <li>ACES.</li> <li>SPS facilitating contact<br/>visits.</li> <li>Avoidance to interact<br/>with services/stigma.</li> <li>Equivalence.</li> <li>Community access.</li> </ul> |
| Best<br>Interest | - Rights and<br>views.<br>- Voice.<br>-Equivalence.   | <ul> <li>MBUs may be in the<br/>best interest of children.</li> <li>Mums unsure if baby<br/>would struggle when<br/>leaving.</li> <li>Mixed feelings that<br/>baby may miss out by<br/>being in MBU.</li> <li>mums unsure on<br/>shared care.</li> <li>Concerns on release<br/>from custody.</li> <li>Unsure on what is best<br/>for baby, feel that it<br/>might be best for baby<br/>to stay outside but do<br/>not feel they should.</li> </ul> | <ul> <li>Agree importance of<br/>views and rights of<br/>children.</li> <li>Mixed feelings on if<br/>children should have<br/>overnight stays.</li> <li>Mums looking for more<br/>information on the<br/>structure and process<br/>for overnight stays for<br/>children before<br/>deciding.</li> </ul>  | <ul> <li>Women treated as<br/>individuals.</li> <li>Children's voice and<br/>UNCRC.</li> <li>Person centred.</li> <li>Decision making.</li> <li>Legislation.</li> <li>Risk assessments.</li> <li>Local and flexible.</li> </ul>  |

# Appendix D: Phase 1 and Phase 2 full coding

#### References

- Adams St. Pierre, E. (1997) 'Methodology in the fold and the irruption of transgressive data', *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 10:2, Pp. 175-189.
- Allen, S., Flaherty, C. and Ely, G. (2010) 'Throwaway moms: Maternal incarceration of the criminalization of female poverty', *Journal of Women and Social Work*, 25:2, Pp. 160-172.
- Anderson, G. and Herr, K. (1999) 'The new paradigm wars: Is there room for rigorous practitioner knowledge in schools and universities', *Educational Researcher*, 28:5, Pp. 12-21.
- Angiolini, E. (2012) Commission on Women Offenders @ <u>https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/3000/https://www.gov.scot/Resource/0039/00</u> <u>391828.pdf</u> (last accessed 12/07/2022).
- Arditti, J. (2014) Parental incarceration and the family: Psychological and social effects of imprisonment on children, parents, and caregivers. New York, USA: New York University Press.
- Arditti, J. and Savla, J. (2015) 'Parental incarceration and child trauma symptoms in single caregiver homes', *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 24:3, Pp. 551–61.
- Baldwin, L. (2018) 'Motherhood disrupted: Reflections of post-prison mothers', *Emotion, Space and Society*, 26, Pp. 49-56.
- Baldwin, L. and Abbott, L. (2020) 'Incarcerated motherhood: Reflecting on 100 years of imprisoning mothers', *Prison Service Journal*, Issue 257, Pp. 29-37.
- Bard, E., Knight, M., and Plugge, E. (2016) 'Perinatal health care services for imprisoned pregnant women and associated outcomes: A systematic review', BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 16:1, Pp. 285.
- Bartels, L. and Gaffney, A. (2011) *Good practice in women's prisons: A literature review*, Technical and background paper.
- Bartlett, T. and Eriksson A. (2018) 'How fathers construct and perform fathering in a limited prison space', *Punishment and Society*, 21;3, Pp. 275-294.
- Berg, M. and Huebner, B. (2011) 'Reentry and the ties that bind: An examination of social ties, employment and recidivism', *Justice Quarterly*, 28:2, Pp. 382-410.
- Beyer, M. (2008) 'Visit coaching: Building on family strengths to meet children's needs', *Juvenile and Family Court Journal*, 59:1, Pp. 47–60.
- Beyrer, C. and Kass, N .E. (2002) 'Human rights, politics, and reviews of research ethics', *Lancet*, 360, Pp. 246-251.
- Borelli, J. L., Goshin, L., Joestl, S., Clark, J. and Byrne, M. (2010) 'Attachment organization in a sample of incarcerated mothers: Distribution of classifications and associations with substance abuse, depressive symptoms, perceptions of parenting competency, and social support', Attachment and Human Development, 12, Pp. 355-374.
- Bowlby, J. (1969) Attachment and loss. Vol 1: Attachment. New York, USA: Basic Books.
- Branstetter, E. (1969) 'The young child's response to hospitilization: Separation anxiety or lack of mothering care?', Common Nurse Res, 2:13, Pp. 23-25.

- Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3:2, Pp, 77-101.
- Bretherton, I. (1992) 'The origins of attachment theory: John Bowlby and Mary Ainsworth', Developmental Psychology, 28:5, Pp. 759-775.
- Bretherton, I. (2010) 'Parental incarceration: The challenges for attachment researchers', Attachment and Human Development, 12:4, Pp. 417-428.
- Brett, R. (2018) Best interest of the child when sentencing a parent: Some reflections on international and regional standards and practice @ <u>https://www.familiesoutside.org.uk/content/uploads/2020/08/Best-Interests-of-the-Child-when-Sentencing-a-Parent.pdf</u> (last accessed 10/04/2022).
- Breur, E., Redmond, M., Lighton, S. Passalaqua, J., Galouzis, J., Stweart, K. and Sullivan, E. (2021) 'The needs and experiences of mothers while in prison and post release: A rapid review and thematic synthesis', *Health and Justice*, 9:31, Pp. 1-19.
- Brookfield, S. (2002) 'Using the lenses of critically reflective teaching in the community college classroom', *New Directions for Community Colleges*, 118, Pp. 31-38.
- Bryman, A. (2008) Social Research Methods, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. London, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Bryne, M. (2005) 'Conducting research as a visiting scientist in a women's prison', *Journal of Professional Nursing*, Vol 21, Pp. 223-230.
- Bryne, M. and Howells, K. (2002) 'The phycological needs of women prisoners: Implications for rehabilitation and management', *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law*, 2002:9, Pp. 34-43.
- Byne-Hall, J. (1995) *Rewriting family scripts*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Byrne, B. (2016) 'Do Children still need to Escape Childhood? A Reassessment of John Holt and his Vision for Children's Rights', The International Journal of Children's Rights, 24 (1), Pp. 113-134.
- Cahalin, K., Callender, M. and Lugli, V. (2021) 'Perinatal women's experiences of access to expertise, information and appropriate medical attention in prison', *Prison Service Journal*, Issue 257, Pp. 12-21.
- Campbell, A., McNamara, O. and Gilroy, P. (2004) *Practitioner research and professional development in education*. London: Paul Chapman.
- Cassidy, J., Ziv, Y., Stupica, B., Sherman, L. J., Butler, H., Karfgin, A., Cooper, G., Hoffman, K. T. and Powell, B. (2010) 'Enhancing attachment security in the infants of women in a jail-diversion program', *Attachment and Human Development*, 12:4, Pp. 333-353.
- Cassidy, J., Jones, J. D. and Shaver, P.R. (2013) 'Contributions of attachment theory and research: A framework for future research, transition, and policy', *Development and Psychopathology*, 25:4, Pp. 1414-1434.
- Catan, L. (1992) 'Infants with mothers in prison' in R. Shaw (ed) *Prisoners' Children. What are the issues?* London, UK: Routledge.
- Children (Scotland) Act (2020a), HMSO. @ <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2020/16/contents/enacted</u> (last accessed 01/05/2022).

- Condry, R. and Minson, S. (2020) 'Conceptualizing the effects of imprisonment on families: Collateral consequences, secondary punishment, or symbiotic harm?', *Theoretical Criminology 2020*, Pp. 1-19.
- Cook, T. (1998) 'The importance of mess in action research', *Educational Action Research*, 6:1, Pp. 93-109.
- Corston, J. (2007) A report by Baroness Jean Corston of a review of women with particular vulnerabilities in the criminal justice system @ <u>https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw\_31011-5\_0.pdf</u> (last accessed 23/06/2022).
- Cramer, L., Goff, M., Peterson, B. and Sandstrom, H. (2017) Parent-child visiting practices in prisons and jails @ <u>https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/89601/parent-</u> <u>child visiting practices in prisons and jails 0.pdf</u> (last accessed 23/08/2022).
- Crawley, E. and Sparks, R. (2005) 'Hidden injuries? Researching the experiences of older men in English prisons, *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice*, 44:4, pp. 345-356.
- Cunningham Stringer, E. (2020) 'Managing motherhood: How incarcerated mothers negotiate maternal role identities with their children's caregivers', Women & Criminal Justice, 30:5, Pp. 336-355.
- Dallaire, D. (2007) 'Children with incarcerated mothers: Developmental outcomes, special challenges and recommendations, *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 28, Pp. 15-24.
- Datesman, S. K. and Cales, G. L. (1983) 'I'm still the same mommy: Maintaining the mother/child relationship in prison', The prison Journal, 63:2, Pp. 142-154.
- Dick, B. (2017) Convergent interviewing @ <u>http://www.aral.com.au/resources/coin.pdf</u> (last accessed 04/06/2022).
- Dowell, C. M., Meja, G. C., Preen, D. B. and Segal, L. (2018) '*Maternal incarceration, child protection, and infant mortality: A descriptive study of infant children of women prisoners in Western Australia'*, Public Health and Justice, 6:1.
- Epstein, M. (2014) 'Mothers and prison: the sentencing of mothers and the rights of the child', *Prison Service Journal*, 216, Pp. 26-43.
- Fallot, R. and Harris, M. (2011) 'Creating cultures of trauma-informed care (CCTIC): A self-assessment and planning protocol'. *Community Connections*, Nov 2011. @ Accessed on 28/06/19
- Farrall, S., Bannister, J., Ditton, J. and Gilchrist, E. (1997) *Open and closed questions* @ <u>https://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU17.html</u> (last accessed 02/06/2022).
- Feinman, C. (1994) Women in the Criminal Justice System (3<sup>rd</sup> ed). USA: Praegner Publishers.
- Feldman, A. (1998) 'Implementing and assessing the power of conversation in the teaching of action research' *Teacher and Education Quarterly*, 25:2, Pp. 27-42.
- Findlay, L. (2008) 'Reflecting on reflective practice', *The Open University*, Practice Based Professional Learning paper 2.
- Fine, M., Weiss, L., Wessen, S. and Wong, L. (2000) 'For whom? Qualitative research, representation and social responsibilities' in N. Denzin and Y. Lincoln (Eds) *The handbook of qualitative research*, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Thousand Oaks: SAGE. Pp. 107-131.

- Flynn, C. (2014) 'Getting there and being there: Visits to prisons in Victoria—the experiences of women prisoners and their children', *Probation Journal*, 61:2, Pp. 176–91.
- Fraser, J. (2011) Children with a Parent in Prison: Contact has its Benefits but Outcomes Depend on Many Factors, Children, Youth & Families Background Report 129. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh, Office of Child Development.
- Friedman, S. H., Kaempf, A. and Kauffman, S. (2020) 'The realities of pregnancy and mothering while incarcerated', *American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 48:3, Pp, 1 11.
- Freud, A., (1953) 'Some remarks on infant observations' in R. S. Eissler (ed) *The psychoanalytic study of the child*. New York: International Universities Press. Pp. 9-19.
- Fullan, M. (1993) 'Why teachers must become change agents', Educational Leadership, 50:6, Pp. 12-13.
- Furseth, I. and Everett E, L. (2013) *Doing your master's dissertation : From start to finish*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Gibbs, A. (1997) Focus groups @ https://sru.soc.surrey.ac.uk/SRU19.html (last accessed 05/06/2022).
- Given, L. (2012) 'Convergent Interviewing' in L. Given (ed) The SAGE encyclopaedia of qualitative research methods. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publishers, Inc. Pp. 126-127.
- Glaze, L. E. and Maurschak, L. M. (2010) *Parents in prison and their minor children*, Washington DC: US Department of Justice.
- Goffman, E. (1986) *Frame analysis: An essay on the organisation of experience*. Boston, MA, USA: Northeastern University Press.
- Griffin. M. G., Resick, P.A., Wardrop, A. E. et al., (2003) 'Participation in trauma research: Is there evidence of harm?', *Trauma Stress*, 16, Pp. 221-117.
- Groundwater-Smith, S. and Mockler, N. (2007) 'Ethics in practitioner research: An issue of quality', *Research Papers in Education*, 22:2, Pp. 199-211.
- Guba, E. G. and Lincoln, Y. S. (2005) 'Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences in N. K. Denzin and Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications Ltd. Pp. 191-215.
- Hairston, C, F. (2007) *Focus on children with incarcerated parents: An overview of the research literature*. Baltimore: Annie E. Casey Foundation.
- Hairston, M. (1982) 'The winds of change: Thomas Kuhn and the revolution in the teaching of writing', *College Composition and Communication*, 33:1, Pp. 76-88.
- Halcomb, E.J. and Davidson, P. M. (2006) 'Is verbatim transcription of interview data always necessary?', Applied Nursing Research, 19, pp. 38-42.
- Hamilton, D. (1994) 'Traditions, preferences, and postures in applied qualitative research' in N. K. Denzin and Y. Lincoln (eds). Thousand oaks, CA: Sage. Pp. 60-69.
- Hammersley, M. and Traianou, A. (2012) *Ethics and Educational Research, British Educational Research Association @* <u>https://www.bera.ac.uk/publication/ethics-and-educational-research</u> (last accessed 07/07/2022).

- Holloway, I. and Galvin, K. (2017) *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare*, 4th ed. Chichester, West Sussex: John Wiley and Sons, Limited.
- Hunt, N. (2019) Landscapes of trauma: The psychology of the battlefield. London: Routledge.
- Jewkes, Y., Jordan, M., Wright, S. and Bendelow, G. (2019) 'Designing healthy prison for women: Incorporating trauma-informed care and practice (TICP) into prison planning and design', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16:3818.
- Jimenez, J. M. and Palacios, J. (2003) 'When home is in jail: Child development in Spanish Penitentiary Units', *Infant and Child Development*, Vol 12, Pp. 461-474.
- Johnstone, H. (2019) 'Imprisoned mothers in Victorian England, 1953-1900: Motherhood, identity and the convict prison', *Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 19:2, Pp. 215-231.
- Kassam-Adams, N. and Newman, E. (2002) 'The reactions to research participation questionnaires for children and for parents', *Hen Hosp Psychiatry*, 24, pp. 336-342.
- Kennedy, S. C., Mennicke, A. M. and Allen, C. (2020) 'I took care of my kids: mothering while incarcerated', Health and Justice, 8:12.
- Krauss, S. E. (2005) 'Research paradigms and meaning making: a primer', *The Qualitative Report*, 10:4, Pp. 758-770.
- Lockwood, K. A. (2018) 'Disrupted identities: Narratives of mothers in prison' in T. Taylor (ed) *Marginalized* mothers, mothering from the margins. Emerald Publishing @ <u>https://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/46294/1/Lockwood\_Disrupted%20Mothering.pdf</u> (last accessed on 25/07/2022).
- Long, T., Lockwood, K., Loucks, N., Nugent, B., Raikes, B., Sharratt, K. and Gallagher, L. (2021) 'Improving outcomes for children affected by parental involvement with the criminal justice system in Scotland' *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 17:3, Pp. 1883-1903.
- Maguire, M. and Delahunt, B. (2017) 'Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars', All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, Vol 3, Pp. 3351-14.
- Menter, I., Elliot, D., Hulme, M., Lewin, J. and Lowden, K. (2011) A guide to practitioner research in education. London: Sage.
- McLintock, D., Ison, R. and Armson, R. (2003) 'Metaphors for reflecting on research practice: researching with people', *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 46:5, Pp. 715-731.
- McNamara, C. (online) *General guidelines for conducting interviews* @ https://managementhelp.org/businessresearch/interviews.htm (last accessed 07/06/2022).
- Mellor, N. (2001) 'Messy method: the unfolding story', Education Action Research, 9:3, Pp. 465-484.
- Miles, M. B. and Huberman, A. M. (1994) *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Ministry of Justice (2020) *Review of operational policy on pregnancy, Mother and Baby Units and maternal separation* @

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/fi le/905559/summary-report-of-review-of-policy-on-mbu.pdf (last accessed 05/06/2022).

- Minson, S. (2019) Maternal sentencing and the rights of the child. London: Palgrave.
- Minson, S. and Flynn, C. (2021) 'Symbiotic harms of imprisonment and the effect on children's right to family life', *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 29, Pp. 305-325.
- Moccia, P. (1998) 'A critique of compromise: Beyond the methods debate', *Advances in Nursing Science*, 21:4, Pp. 1-9.
- Moses, M. (2002) 'The heart of the matter', *Philosophy and Educational Research, Review of Research in Education*, 26:1, Pp 1-21.
- Murray, J. and Murray, L. (2010) 'Parental incarceration, attachment and child psychopathology', Attachment and Human Development, 12:4, Pp. 289-309.
- Myers, H., Segal, L., Lopez, D., Li, I. W. and Preen, D. B. (2017) 'Impact of family-friendly prison policies on health, justice and child protection outcomes for incarcerated mothers and their dependent children: a cohort study protocol', *MBJ Open*.
- Newman, L., Coombe, K., Arefi, M., Davidson., and Humphries, J. (1999) 'Facing the hard questions: Ethics for early childhood fieldwork programs', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, 24:2, Pp. 35-39.
- Nicols, E. B. and Loper, A. B. (2012) 'Incarceration in the household: Academic outcomes of adolescents with an incarcerated household member', *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, 41:1, Pp. 1455-1471.
- O'Conner, A. (2018) Understanding transition in the early years: Supporting change through attachment and resilience, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge.
- O'Reilly, A. (2016) Matricentric Feminism: Theory. Activism and Practice. Canada: Demeter Press.
- Paddick, S. (2011) Women and children in prisons: accommodation study @ <u>https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/6773628/women-and-children-in-prisons-accommodation-study-sagovau/16</u> (last accessed 07/07/2022).
- Perry, B. D., Pollard, R. A., Blakley, T. L., Baker, W. I. and Vigilante, D. (1995) 'Childhood trauma, the neurobiology of adaptation, and "use-dependent" development of the brain: how "states" become "traits", Infant Mental Health Journal, Vol 16:4, Pp. 271-91.
- Perry, V., Fowler, C., Heggie, K. and Barbara, K. (2011) 'The impact of correctional based parenting programme in strengthening parenting skills of incarcerated mothers', *Criminal Justice 22*, Pp. 457-471.
- Peterson, W. E., Armstrong, L. L. and Foulkes, M. A. (2018) *Mothers, addiction and recovery: Finding meaning through the journey*. Canada: Demeter Press.
- Phillips, D. C. and Burbules, N. C. (2000) *Postpositivism and educational research*. Oxford, UK: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers Inc.

- Poehlemann, J. (2005) 'Incarcerated mothers contact with children, perceived family relationships, and depressive symptoms', *Journal of Family Psychology*, 19:3, Pp. 350-357.
- Powell, C., Marzano, L. and Ciclitira, K. (2017) 'Mother-infant separations in prison: A systematic attachment policy review', *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology*, 28:2, Pp. 274-289.
- Prison Reform Trust (2017) Why focus on reducing women's imprisonment? @ <u>https://prisonreformtrust.org.uk/publication/why-focus-on-reducing-womens-imprisonment-in-</u> <u>scotland/</u> (last accessed 30/07/2022).
- Race K. E., Hotch D. F., Parker T. (1994) 'Rehabilitation program evaluation: use of focus groups to empower clients', *Evaluation Review* 18:6, Pp. 730-40.
- Ragland, B. B. (2006) 'Positioning the practitioner-researcher: Five ways of looking at practice', *Action Research*, 4:2, Pp.165-182.
- Rao, S. and Perry, C. (2003) 'Convergent interviewing to build a theory in under-researched areas:
   Principles and an example investigation of Internet usage in inter-firm relationships', *Qualitative Market Research*, 6:4, Pp. 236-247.
- Ritchie, J. and Lewis, J. (2003) *Qualitative research practice: a guide for social science students and researchers*. London, UK: SAGE.
- Rossiter, C., Fowler, T., Jackson, D., Huslop, D. and Dawson, A. (2015) 'Mothering at a distance: What incarcerated mothers value about a parenting programme', *Contemporary Nurse*, 50:2/3, Pp. 238-255.
- Ryan, G. S. (2018) 'Introduction to positivism, interpretivism and critical theory', *Nurse Researcher*, 25:4, Pp. 14-20.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2009) *Research methods for business students*, 5th ed. Edinburgh Gate, Pearson Education Limited.
- Schaffer, H. R. and Emerson, P. E. (1964) 'The development of social attachments in infancy', *Social Res & Child Development*, 29:3.
- Schon, D. A. and Rein, M. (1994) *Frame reflection: Toward the resolution of intractable policy controversies*. New York, USA: Basic Books.
- Shore, A. N. (2013) 'Relational trauma, brain development, and dissociation' in J. D. Ford & C. A. Courtois (eds) Treating traumatic stress disorders in children and adolescents: Scientific foundations and therapeutic model. The Guilford Press. Pp. 3023.
- Schubert, E. C., Duininick, M. and Shlafer, R. (2016) 'Visiting Mom: A pilot evaluation of a prison based visiting program serving incarcerated mothers and their minor children', *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 55:4, pp. 213-234.
- Scott, K. (2021) 'Adverse childhood experiences', InnovAiT, 14:1, Pp. 6-11.

Scottish Government (2008a) *Getting it right for every child* (GIRFEC) @ <u>https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/1141/0065063.pdf</u> (last accessed 27/07/2022).

Scottish Government (2008b) The Early Years framework @ <u>https://www.webarchive.org.uk/wayback/archive/20180517210659mp\_/http://www.gov.scot/Re</u> <u>source/Doc/257007/0076309.pdf</u> (last accessed 28/07/2022).

- Scottish Government (2015a) *Proposed Support for Children (Impact of Parental Imprisonment)(Scotland) Bill Mary Fee MSP @* <u>https://archive2021.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/bills/86482.aspx</u> (last accessed 10/05/2022).
- Scottish Government (2015b) International review of custodial models for women: Key messages for Scotland @ <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/international-review-custodial-models-women-key-messages-scotland/pages/4/</u> (last accessed 03/05/2022).

Scottish Government (2017) What have ACEs got to do with justice @ <u>https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/research-and-analysis/2018/05/understanding-childhood-adversity-resilience-crime/documents/00535550-pdf/00535550-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00535550.pdf?forceDownload=true (last accessed 10/06/2022).</u>

Scottish Government (2021) A fairer. Greener Scotland: Programme for Government 2021-22 @ https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategyplan/2021/09/fairer-greener-scotland-programme-government-2021-22/documents/fairergreener-scotland-programme-government-2021-22/fairer-greener-scotland-programmegovernment-2021-22/govscot%3Adocument/fairer-greener-scotland-programme-government-2021-22.pdf?forceDownload=true (last accessed 23/07/2022).

Scottish Government (2022) *The Vision for Justice in Scotland* @ <u>https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-</u> <u>plan/2022/02/vision-justice-scotland/documents/vision-justice-scotland-2022/vision-justice-</u> <u>scotland-2022/govscot%3Adocument/vision-justice-scotland-2022.pdf?forceDownload=true</u> (last accessed 23/07/2022).

- Scottish Parliament Information Service (2018) A new approach to women offenders in Scotland @ <u>https://spice-spotlight.scot/2018/07/11/a-new-approach-to-women-offenders-in-scotland/</u> (last accessed 27/05/2022).
- Scottish Prison Service (2016) They will not look like prisons': how community custodial units for women in Scotland will operate @ https://www.holyrood.com/news/view,they-will-not-look-like-prisonshow-community-custodial-units-for-women-in-scotland-will-operate\_6442.htm (last accessed 24/05/2022).
- Scottish Prison Service (2017) Research access guide @ <u>https://www.nhsresearchscotland.org.uk/uploads/tinymce/SPS%20Research%20Access%20Guida</u> <u>nce%20-%20October%202017.doc</u> (last accessed 05/04/2022).
- Scottish Prison Service (2021) Strategy for Women in Custody: 2021-2025 @ <u>http://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/Publications/Publication-8627.aspx</u> (last accessed 20/08/2022).
- Scottish Prison Service (2022a) Freedom of Information (FOI) Mother and Baby Data @ <u>http://www.sps.gov.uk/FreedomofInformation/FOI-8652.aspx</u> (last accessed 14/08/2022).

- Scottish Prison Service (2022b) News: The 'Bella centre' Completion and New Strategy for Women @ http://www.sps.gov.uk/Corporate/News/News-8612.aspx (last accessed 16/08/2022).
- Seedat, S., Pienaar, W. P., Williams, D. and Stein, J. S. (2004) 'Ethics of research on survivors of trauma', *Psychiatry Rep*, Aug 6:4, Pp. 262-267.

Shlafer, R. J., and Poehlmann, J. (2010) 'Attachment and caregiving relationships in families affected by parental incarceration', *Attachment & Human Development*, Vol 12, Pp. 395–415.

- Sikes, P. (2000) 'Truth and lies revisited', British Educational Research Journal, 26:2, Pp. 241-246.
- Sikes, P. (2006) 'On dodgy ground? Problematics and ethics in educational research', *International Journal* of Research and Methods in Education, 29:1, Pp. 105-117.
- Skinner-Osei, P. and Levenson, J. S. (2018) 'Trauma-informed services for children with incarcerated parents', *Journal of Family Social Work*, 21:4-5, Pp. 421-437.
- Sleed, M., Baradon, T. and Fonagy, P. (2013) 'New beginnings for mothers and babies in prison: a cluster randomized controlled trial', *Attachment and Human Development*, 15:4, Pp. 349-367.
- Smeaton, E. (2018) Bridging the Gap: Addressing the emotional health and wellbeing of young people who experience, or are at risk of, child sexual exploitation. London: Barnardo's.
- Staneva, A., Bogossian, F., Pritchard, M. and Wittkowski, A. (2015) 'The effect of maternal depression, anxiety, perceived stress during pregnancy on preterm birth: A systematic review', Women and Birth, 28:3, Pp. 179-193.
- Sturges, J. and Al-Khattar, A. (2009) 'Survey of jail visitors about visitation policies', *Prison Journal*, 89:4, Pp. 482–96.
- Thompson, P. J. and Harm, N. J. (2000) 'Parenting from prison: Helping children and mothers', *Issues in Comprehensive Paediatric Nursing*, 23:2, pp. 61-81.
- Tobin, G. A. and Begley, C. M. (2004) 'Methodological rigour within a qualitative framework', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 48:4, Pp. 388-396.
- Tripodi, S. J., Mennicke, A. M., McCarter, S. A. and Ropes, K. (2017) 'Evaluating seeking safety for women in prison: a randomised controlled trial', *Research on Social Work Practice*, 29, pp. 281-290.
- Turnbull, J. E., McLeod, J.D. and Callahan, J. M. (1988) 'Who should ask? Ethical interviewing in psychiatric epidemiology studies', *AM J Orthopsychiatry*, 58, Pp. 228-239.
- UNICEF (online) A Summary of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child @ <u>https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/UNCRC\_summary-1\_1.pdf</u> (last accessed on 02/05/2022).
- UN General Assembly (2010) United Nations rules for the treatment of women prisoners and non-custodial measures for women offenders (the Bangkok Rules) @ <u>https://cdn.penalreform.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/07/PRI-Short-Guide-Bangkok-Rules-2013-Web-Final.pdf</u> (last accessed on 08/08/2022).

University of Glasgow (online) *Research ethics* @ <u>https://www.gla.ac.uk/colleges/socialsciences/students/ethics/</u> (last accessed 04/07/2022).

- University of Stirling and Aberlour (2016) *Rose Project: Best for babies* @ <u>https://www.stir.ac.uk/media/stirling/services/faculties/social-sciences/documents/the-rose-project-best-for-babies-report.pdf</u> (last accessed 06/05/2022).
- Van Der Kolk, B. (2015) *The Body Keeps the Score: Mind, Brain and Body in the Transformation of Trauma*. London: Penguin Books.
- Von Weller, C., Joplin, J., Jacobi, T., Miller, K. and Willkomm, L. (2018) 'Mothering through addiction and jail' in W. E. Peterson, L. L. Armstrong and M. A. Foulkes (eds) *Mothers addiction and recovery: Finding meaning through the journey*. Canada: Demeter Press. Pp. 49-66.
- Walker, S. P., Wachs, T. D., Grantham-McGregor, S., Black, M. M., Nelson, C. A., Huffman, S. L., Baker -Henningham, H., Chang, S. M., Hamadani, J. D., Lozoff, B., Meeks Gardner, J. M., Powell, C. A., Rahman, A. and Richter, L. (2011) 'Inequality in early childhood: risk and protective factors for early child development', *The Lancet*, Pp. 1325-1338.
- Walker, J. R. (2018) Women and gestations in prison: Becoming a 'good enough mother", (PHD), UNSW.
- Weaver, K. and Olson, J. K. (2006) 'Understanding paradigms used for nursing research', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 53:4, Pp. 459-469.
- Wesley, W. and Buysse, V. (2001) 'Communities of practice: Expanding professional roles to promote reflection and shared enquiry', *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 21:2, Pp. 114-123.
- Wolleswinkel, R. (2002) 'Development and autonomy rights of children' in J. Willems (ed) *Empowering children, caregivers and communities, inerstentia*. Antwerp/Oxford/New York. Pp 191-207.Willems,
- Wyness, M. (2006) Children and society: An introduction to the sociology of childhood, London: Palgrave.
- Zeedyk, S. (2016) *Brain Development* @ <u>https://suzannezeedyk.com/brain-development-suzanne-zeedyk/</u> (last accessed 24/07/2022).